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Transforming technology and concepts into innovative and successful solutions around the world
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about PEMSTAR

PEMSTAR Inc. provides comprehensive engineering, manufacturing and fulfillment solutions to customers on a global basis. Locations across
the Americas, Europe and Asia enable the company to deliver a consistently high level of industry-focused capabilities in geographies where
customers need them. With deep expertise and proven experience, PEMSTAR is well positioned and focused on the four key growth industries

that it serves: communications, computing and data storage, industrial and medical.

PEMSTAR's mission is to provide global engineering, product design, automation and test, manufacturing and fulfillment capabilities that
deliver industry-leading value to its stakeholders by transforming technology and concepts into innovative and successful customer solutions.
The company’s vision is “concept to customer solutions.” To realize its mission and vision, and to achieve stakeholder loyalty and success,

PEMSTAR values customers, employees, quality, profitable growth, innovation and learning as attributes and principles for business success.

Founded in 1994, PEMSTAR is headquartered in Rochester, Minn., and has more than 3,500 employees in 16 locations worldwide. PEMSTAR's
stock is traded on the Nasdaq under the symbol PMTR.
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Year ended March 31, 2004 2003 2002 2001 2000
Net sales § 669,446 § 668,175 $ 657,493 $ 635307  $ 393,84
Operating (loss) income $ (12,275) % (24,333) % (49,695) $ 14,702 $ 7,01
(Loss) income before goodwill accounting change $  (19,800) § (33,418) § (54,017) §$ 6,683 $ 2,65
Net (loss) income $ (19,800) § (38,764) % (54,017) $ 6,683 $ 2,65
(Loss) income before goodwill accounting change
per common share:
Basic $ 0.47) $ (0.90) $ . (1.56)  § 0.29 $ 0.2
Diluted $ 047) ¢ 0.90) $ (1.56) % 025 $ 0.1
Net income {loss) per common share:
Basic $ (047) 8 (1.04) $ (156) 8§ 029 % 0.2
Diluted $ 0.47) 8 (1.04) $ (1.56) $ 025  § 0.1
Weighted average number of common shares
outstanding: .
Basic 42,002 37,133 34,717 23,013 11,50

Diluted 42,002 37,133 34,717 26,943 17,16
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key financial metrics: maintaining the path to progress

The outset of fiscal 2004 was marked by challenging economic and market conditions. PEMSTAR took decisive actions to restructure the company,
grow business with existing customers, pursue new business, and improve financial and operational efficiencies. Three initiatives—aligning
resources with current revenue, continued industry diversificarion and diligent financial management—kept progress in line with expectations,

and enabled the company to deliver improved financial performance in the second half of fiscal 2004. In fiscal 2005, PEMSTAR is poised for

growth with a solid infrastructure, comprehensive capabilities and a global reach. The company is focused on maintaining its path to progress.

QUARTERLY NET SALES GROSS PROFIT OPERATING INCOME (LOSS)

(in millions) (in millions) (in millions)
$187.3 $186.0 $15.6 $1.6
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PEMSTAR’s continued industry
diversification, pursuit of new business and
strength in the industrial market drove
quarterly revenue-growth.

1Q04 2Q04 3Q04 4Q04

Solid financial management, enhanced customer
focus and operations excellence mean that
PEMSTAR is able to offer the same top-quality
services and solutions, at a lower cost to the

1Q04 2Q04 3Q04 4Q04

Increased revenues, combined with higher-margin
sales to new and existing customers, led to
improved operating performance in the second
half of fiscal 2004, and positions PEMSTAR

company. The result is gross profit that more than well for fiscal 2005.

doubled from the first quarter to the fourth.

DILUTED NET INCOME (LOSS) PER CASH CYCLE BY QUARTER -

COMMON SHARE BY QUARTER (in days)
L 56
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Simply put, cash cycle is how quickly a company
is able to turn a customer order into cash in hand.
Over the last two years, through focus on credit,
collections and inventory management, PEMSTAR
has made steady improvement in its cash cycle.

Consistent with operating income gains,
PEMSTAR has been able to deliver stronger
second-halif earnings per share results.




dear shareholders:

PEMSTAR’s agenda for fiscal 2004 was straightforward: to execute
a business improvement strategy that would enhance financial
performance and solidly position the company for future growth.
Qur focus was three-fold:
» align resources with revenue levels;
* continue to diversify PEMSTAR's business across our four key
industries; and

* improve the bottom line while strengthening our balance sheet.

We also continued to make operations excellence a top priority at
PEMSTAR’s worldwide facilities. This allows us to fulfill complex
systems orders from any geography into any channel. As a result,

PEMSTAR is poised to capture new customers and more projects

from existing customers.

Our diligent efforts in fiscal 2004 met milestones and showed
continued progress. As economic and market conditions began to
rebound in the second half of the year, PEMSTAR:

* significantly improved botrom-line performance in the fiscal
third and fourth quarters;

* delivered third quarter net sales of $187.3 million, the highest
quarterly tortal in the company’s history, and fourth quarter,
usually a seasonally low quarter, remained strong;

* improved our balance sheet and key financial metrics such as
cash cycle;

* continued to further diversify our revenue stream across our
four key industries;

* completed the expansion of our Austin, Texas, facility; and

* expanded and enhanced our global presence, adding a new

facility in Romania.

PEMSTAR's key differentiator in the marketplace continues to be our

concept to customer solutions capability. We offer a comprehensive

engineering, manufacturing and fulfillment platform, and skilled team
to deploy customer projects. Moreover, we can do that in virtually

any geography around the globe—and that resonates with customers.

financial performance

PEMSTAR’s net sales were $669.4 million for fiscal 2004, versus
$668.2 million in 2003. The company narrowed its net loss to
$19.8 million, or $0.47 per diluted share, compared to a loss before
goodwill accounting change of $33.4 million, or $0.90 per diluted
share, in fiscal 2003.

For the year, industrial sales increased to 31.7 percent of total net
sales from 17.5 percent in fiscal 2003. Computing and data storage
sales were 36.2 percent versus 39.4 percent in fiscal 2003.
Communications sales were 27.5 percent, versus 37.2 percent in
fiscal 2003. Medical sales were 4.6 percent versus 5.9 percent in fisca
2003. PEMSTAR was able to balance its revenue base by increasing
sales in the industrial sector. This provides the stability needed for
future growth as the company is not financially dependent on any

one industry segment.

From a geographic perspective, 66.9 percent of fiscal 2004 net sales
were derived from product manufactured in the Americas, compared
with 71.2 percent in 2003, with 23.9 percent generated in Asia,

versus 18.7 percent; and 9.2 percent in Europe, versus 10.1 percent.

In April 2003, the company strengthened its agreements with
lenders worldwide, securing a new, larger and more favorable domestic
revolving credit facility, as well as expanded borrowing capabilities in
Asia. Additionally, PEMSTAR conducted a follow-on common stock
offering in August 2003, which raised approximately $20 million.
Between the equity offering and strengthening its worldwide credit
facilicies, this improved liquidity permits PEMSTAR to grow its

business.
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slobal reach, comprehensive engineering, operational excellence, a
ommitment to quality and supply chain management, and proven
:xperience are what drive customers to PEMSTAR. In fiscal 2004, as
ve continued to diversify our revenue stream, we added new

ustomers to our four industries.

With our existing customers, PEMSTAR started new projects with
Motorola, CIENA, Picolight and others in communications. In
computing and data storage, we launched substantial initiatives wich
IBM, Mortorola, Honeywell and Qlogic. And in industrial,
PEMSTAR’s strengths in efficiently managing complex, highly
configurable product lines, and three-year history with a major
technology company, helped PEMSTAR secure a significantly

broader agreement from that existing customer in October.

As a company, we're committed to expanding our capabilities in
select key industries. One of these is avionics, which is part of our
industrial business. In fiscal 2004, our Rochester, Minn., facilities
were awarded AS9100 certification by Underwriters Laboratories
(UL). Designed to meet the complex and unique demands of the
avionics industry for both commercial and defense contractors,
AS9100 promotes quality, safety and technology throughout the
avionics supply chain. This cerrification opens up a new range of
opportunities for PEMSTAR.

operational highlights

In fiscal 2004, PEMSTAR implemented a major change in how we
managé our worldwide operation. The company reorganized operations
into three geographic regions: the Americas, Asia and Europe.
Regionalization enables us to more accurately implement plans that
reflect the diverse cultural uniqueness of each region and to quickly
respond to global opportunities. The three-region organization gives us
the flexibility and agility to operate at a local level while using common
practices, processes, information technology tools and performance

measurements across the globe for improved operating efficiency.

L= B L - 4 v 4 L
business and financial strategies, as well as operational excellence
initiatives, resource allocation and most importantly, respond to

customer needs and expectations.

outlook

Throughout the world, PEMSTAR is where it needs to be for
customers, opportunities and future growth. We have the
knowledgeable people, capabilities, experience and commitment to
quality that it takes to serve and win new business in our four

industries.

Our goals for fiscal 2005 are centered around precision execution to:

o cffectively manage costs to achieve consistent profitability;

* increase net sales and diversification by expanding in our
chosen markets;

» further develop capabilities, utilization and focus within our
three geographic regions;

* maintain our commitment to continuous improvement in all
facets of our business; and

* further strengthen the balance sheet.

Looking forward, our future is exciting. PEMSTAR is positioned
well for current marker conditions, and we are leveraging our concept
to customer solutions business model—from strong engineering
services and our hybrid ODM (Original Design Manufacturer)
model, to worldwide manufacturing and fulfillment—to artract and

retain new business.

We look forward to updating you on PEMSTAR’s ongoing progress
throughout fiscal 2005.

Sincerely,

Allen ]. Berning
Chairman, President and CEO
June 3, 2004




CONCEPT BEVELOPMENT

industry focus

PEMSTAR provides concept to customer solutions across four key industries: communications, computing and data storage, industrial and
medical. The company has invested significant time and resources to become an expert in these markets. PEMSTAR’s industry focus allows

customers In these industries to realize significant cost and time-to-market efficiencies when developing and manufacturing new products.

communications

The rapidly changing world of communications is a significant growth opportunity for PEMSTAR. The company’s capabilities in cellular
handsets, wireless, broadband and optical communications enable PEMSTAR to remain at the forefront of the communications industry.
The company designs and manufactures a wide range of components and products including cellular handsets, oprical systems and

communications systems.

computing and data storage

Computing and dara storage has been a core industry for PEMSTAR for more than a decade. The company designs and builds everything
from servers and computing infrastructure equipment, to handheld devices and peripherals. Additionally, PEMSTAR offers ODM platform
solutions with a range of operating systems including Windows® XP and Windows® CE.ner for mobility products.

industrial

From handheld diagnostic devices to avionics and semi-conductor equipment, PEMSTAR proves itself in the growing industrial market by

creating award—winning, rugged designs. The company utilizes industrial network protocols, complies with safety and EMC standards in it
designs, and offers cutting-edge signal processing and data acquisition technologies. PEMSTAR s industrial business also includes the design
and build of automated assembly and test equipment.

medical

Medical device outsourcing is becoming more prevalent as customers realize the cost and time savings companies like PEMSTAR offer.
PEMSTAR meets the exacting medical device standards by providing Class I, I and II device design and manufacturing services. With a
proven track record of successful innovations, PEMSTAR offers Food and Drug Administration (FDA) compliance, 1SO certification,
Class 10,000 clean rooms and a hybrid of medical science expertise.



Capalllitics

engineering With more than 700 engineers worldwide, PEMSTAR delivers award-winning engineering services including product development,
and automation and test design services. Using a phased engincering approach, product development generates concepts. specifications, detailed
designs and prototypes to create a fully realized product. The automation and test group designs and builds solutions for functional test and

assembly equipment, including systems integration, robotics, automation, and high-precision assembly and test equipment.

manufacturing PEMSTAR’s manufacturing services bring together proven expertise, advanced technologies and global locations to provide
cost-effective, low- and high-volume production. With control systems that provide real-time site, regional and corporate-level information
abour product and process performance, PEMSTAR delivers repeatable results—which means consistent success for customers. PEMSTAR’s
manufacturing management systems are ISO-based and the company embraces 5§, lean manufacturing and Six Sigma initiatives, ensuring the

highest quality levels and helping customers improve their bottom lines.

fulfillment It's abour getting finished products into the hands of those who matter most: customers. PEMSTAR’s fulfillment services include
custom order configuration, direct ship to end customers and replenishment hub management to ensure on-time delivery to any global locadion.
The company also offers complete order record maintenance, tracking and invoicing services. PEMSTAR's fulfillment services encompass

product warranty and repair, with in-house experts delivering support and service throughout a product’s lifecycle.

-




PILOT PRODUCTION

americas region — PEMSTAR’S largest market

The Americas have been PEMSTAR'’s largest market since the company was founded in Rochester, Minn., in 1994. We have since spanned
strategically across the Americas to be near end markets and customers. PEMSTAR's capabilities and breadth of experience are equally as far

reaching. We are where our customers want to be, with the capabilities to serve their needs.
‘ 3 p

“In the Americas region, we serve all of PEMSTAR’s four industries with complete concept to customer solutions,” said Roy Bauer, executive
vice president and chief operating officer. “Honeywell utilizes our Rochester facility for its avionics needs, and our staff in San Jose is supporting

General Dynamics, working on the U.S. Army’s wearable Land Warrior system.”

Customers’ manufacturing and fulfillment needs are met by PEMSTAR's eight facilities throughout the region. Guadalajara, Mexico, has special
expertise in high-volume, low-cost manufacturing. Dunseith, N.D., specializes in low-volume, high-mix manufacturing, and has a business

relationship with a Native American distribution business.

The company’s Rochester facility is FDA compliant and has Class 10,000 clean rooms to manufacture sensitive medical products and devices.
PEMSTAR also serves major technology customers at its Austin, Texas, and Chaska, Minn., facilities. San Jose, Calif., and Taunton, Mass.,

provide new product introduction and volume launch services.

PEMSTAR’s Americas region has engineering expertise in industrial product design, software engineering, electro-mechanical design, mixed

signal processing, finite element analysis and modeling, mobile computing, and rapid prototyping and design for manufacturability.

sample customers: PEMSTAR facilities: percent of fiscal 2004 net sales
« CIENA * Engineering: Rochester, Minn.;

* Honeywell San Jose, Calif.

« IBM * Manufacturing: Rochester, Minn.;

* MTS Systems San Jose, Calif.; Dunseith, N.D.;

* Qlogic Taunton, Mass.; Austin, Texas; Chaska,

* General Dynamics Minn.; Guadalajara, Mexico;

Hortolandia, Brazil

total square feet: 894,000




asia region — technology growth opportunity

Asia is, without doubt, the world’s hotbed for technology. From low-cost, high-volume manufacturing options and close proximity to end
customers, to exponentially growing consumer demand and emerging new technologies, Asia holds tremendous potential for outsourced

engineering, manufacturing and fulfillment.

PEMSTAR established its Asian presence in 1995, opening a manufacturing facility in Bangkok, Thailand, focusing on storage products and
components. Today, the region has three manufacturing and fulfillment facilities, one of which feacures PEMSTARs advanced engineering

capabilities. Combined, these offer companies complete concept to customer solutions and support.

PEMSTAR is expanding its technology, engineering and manufacturing capabilities in the region with expertise in the communications,
computing and data storage, and industrial industries. The company’s engineering team focuses on high-volume mobile computing technologies.
PEMSTAR also designs and builds precision automation and test equipment which is used in the automated assembly of technologies such as

optical components.

“Many of our customers, and in turn, their end customers, have a strong presence in Asia,” said Y.K. Lee, senior vice president of Asia
operations. “As a company, it’s critical that we offer the complete range of services in this developing market. Experts predict that the Asian
economy, and in particular China, will explode in the coming years—and PEMSTAR is firmly established, with an experienced team and solid

. »
infrastructure.

At its Asia facilities, PEMSTAR currently designs and manufactures wireless handsets, optical modules, storage test equipment, high-end server

assemblies and disk drive components for several companies.

3
E sampie customers: PEMSTAR facilities: percent of fiscal 2004 net sales
rt o Hitachi Global Storage * Engineering: Singapore . : i :
5 « IBM * Manufacturing: Singapore; Bangkok,
;w ¢ Motorola Thailand; Tianjin, China
* Seagate * Sales and Technical Support:

Yokohama, Japan

total square feet: 491,000




europe region — established presence, emerging technologies

Europe is an established and growing region for PEMSTAR. The company’s operations serve the industrial, medical and communications

industries. Among other customers, the region is home to long-time PEMSTAR industrial customer Fluke Nederland BV. We have been working

with Fluke—designing, manufacturing and delivering test and measurement tools—since 1999.

PEMSTAR’s advanced design center in Almelo, The Netherlands, provides premier engineering services and a commitment to developing new
and emerging technologies. Our Almelo-based engineering team helped to design and develop PEMSTAR’s latest production-ready ODM

platforms for handheld products, compact operating consoles and mobile computing. These platforms have been used by PEMSTAR’s engineers
to develop products such as a portable medical device for diagnostic equipment control and data collection, and a handheld cell phone/organizer

for the visually impaired.

“PEMSTAR’s ODM technology enables customers to reduce upfront research and development costs, business risk and time to market,” said
Bert Wiggers, vice president of European and Asia development engineering. “This is of tremendous value to companies developing increasingly

popular handheld computing devices.”

Recently, PEMSTAR established a majority ownership in a joint venture start-up of a production facility in Brasov, Romania, to better serve its
European customers’ requirements for lower-cost production. The company’s manufacturing and assembly capabilities in Ireland include
PCBA, medical manufacturing and new product introduction. Almelo is a low- to medium-volume, high-complexity manufacturing facility and
also serves as a new product introduction gateway for the low-cost regions of Eastern Europe and Asia. PEMSTAR Israel operates a dedicated

facility for Given Imaging’s high-technology medical diagnostic device.

sample customers: PEMSTAR facilities: percent of fiscal 2004 net sales
¢ Fluke * Engineering: Almelo, The Netherlands
* Given Imaging * Manufacruring: Almelo, The

¢ Siemens Netherlands; Navan, Ireland;

Brasov, Romania; Yoqneam, Israel

total square feet: 161,000
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SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following table summarizes financial data regarding our business and should be read together with "Management's
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,” our consolidated financial statements and the

related notes included in this report.

(In thousands, except per share data) Year Ended March 31,
2004 2003 2002 2001 2000
Consolidated Statements of Operations Data:
Net sales 3 669,446 $ 668,175 $657,493 $ 635,307 $ 393,842
Cost of goods sold 621.630 637.074 627.457 581,278 363974
Gross profit 47,316 31,101 30,036 54,029 29,368
Selling, general and administrative expenses 52,023 51,076 53,351 37,366 21,576
Amortization 107 129 2,152 1,961 1,281
Restructuring costs 7,961 4,249 - - -
Goodwill impairment charges - - 24,228 - -
Operating (loss) income (12,275) (24,353) (49,695) 14,702 7,011
Other income (expense) ~ net 793 558 829 967 (74)
Interest expense (7.815) __(8.870) (1.077) (7.550) (3.588)
{Loss) income before income taxes and cumulative effect of
accounting change (19,297) (32,665) (55,943) 8,119 3,349
Income tax expense (benefit) 503 753 (1,926) 1.436 698
(Loss) income before cumulative effect of accounting change (19,800) (33,418) (54,017) 6,683 2,651
Cumulative effect of accounting change - (5.346) - - -
Net (loss) income $ (19.800) $ (38.764) $ (54.017) § 6,683 $ 2651
(Loss) income before cumulative effect of accounting change
per common share:
Basic $ (47 3 (90) $ (156) $ .29 $ .23
Diluted (.47) {.90) (1.56) 25 15
Net (loss) income per common share:
Basic $ (47 3 (1.04) $ (1.56) $ .29 $ .23
Diluted (47 (1.04) (1.56) 25 15
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding @
Basic ) 42,002 37,133 34,717 23,013 11,503
Diluted 42,002 37,133 34,717 26,943 17,167
Other Financial Data:
Depreciation $ 22,082 $ 20,021 $ 18,299 $ 12,097 $ 7455
Capital expenditures 21,745 12,555 37,930 42,542 13,415
Supplemental Data:
EBITDA @ $ 10,707 $ (3,645) $ 4,187) $ 29,727 $ 15,673
Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities (20,739) 47,311 (307) (54,219) (20,225)
Net cash used in investing activities (21,500) (15,593) (61,203) (62,684) (52,611)
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 18,883 (9,946) 67,164 119,512 74,734
As of March 31,
2004 2003 2002 2001 2000
Consolidated Balance Sheet Data:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 9,792 $ 32,762 $ 11,483 $ 5,882 $ 2727
Working capital 56,247 52,723 75,388 70,651 4,649
Total assets 394,355 372,062 395,724 349,077 190,451
Long-term debt and capital lease obligations less current
maturities 20,723 23,119 12,515 23,673 10,181
Total shareholders’ equity 163,793 159,867 193,397 150,712 22,673
Book value per common share $3.63 $4.26 $5.27 $533 $1.64
Tangible book value per common share $2.87 $3.35 $4.32 $4.30 $0.14

(1) See Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements under the caption “Goodwill”, included herein.

(2) For an explanation of the determination of the weighted average number of common shares outstanding used in computing net (loss) income
per common share, see Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements.

(3) EBITDA means net (loss) income before interest expense, income taxes, depreciation and amortization (including any goodwill impairment).
EBITDA is presented because we believe it is an indicator of our ability to incur and service debt. A similar formula is used by our lenders
for determining compliance with our financial covenants. However, EBITDA should not be considered as an alternative to cash flow from
operating activities, as a measure of liquidity or as an alternative to net income as a measure of operating results in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles. Other companies may compute EBITDA in a different manner.

(4) Tangible book value is total shareholders’ equity less goodwill and other intangible assets. Per common share amounts for book value and
tangible book value are based on common shares outstanding at March 31 for the respective years.
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SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA (Continued)

The following table reconciles net (loss) income to EBITDA and should be read together with "Management's Discussion
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,” our consolidated financial statements and the related notes
included in this report.

(In thousands) Year Ended March 31,
2004 2003 2002 2001 2000
EBITDA:
Net (loss) income $ (19,800) $ (38,764) $ (54,017) $ 6,683 $ 2651
Interest expense 7,815 8,870 7,077 7,550 3,588
Income tax expense (benefit) 503 753 (1,926) 1,436 698
Depreciation 22,082 20,021 18,299 12,097 7,455
Amortization 107 129 2,152 1,961 1,281
Goodwill impairment charge - - 24,228 - -
Cumulative effect of accounting change - 5.346 - - -
Net (loss) income before interest expense, income
taxes, depreciation and amortization (EBITDA) $ 10707 3 (3.643) $ (418D $ 20727 $ 15673
11




MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS
PEMSTAR Inc.

You should read the following discussion in conjunction with the “Selected Financial Data” section of this report and our
consolidated financial statements and notes to those statements included elsewhere in this report. The forward-looking
statements in this discussion regarding the electronics manufacturing services industry, our expectations regarding our
Sfuture performance, liquidity and capital resources and other non-historical statements in this discussion include
numerous risks and uncertainties. Our actual results may differ materially from those contained in any forward-looking
statement. See “Cautionary Statements” below.

OVERVIEW

We provide a comprehensive range of global engineering, product design, automation and test, manufacturing and
fulfillment services to customers in the communications, computing and data storage, industrial equipment, and medical
industries. We provide these services on a global basis through 16 strategic locations in the Americas, Asia and Europe.
These customer solutions support our customers’ products from initial development and design through manufacturing to
worldwide distribution and aftermarket support.

PEMSTAR was founded in January 1994 by a group of eight senior IBM managers who had led the storage product
operations at IBM’s Rochester, Minnesota facility. We have maintained a significant relationship with IBM, which
remains our largest customer. Since our inception, we have diversified our customer base to include industry leading and
emerging original equipment manufacturers. We have also expanded our geographic presence, enhanced our product and
service offerings and increased our volume production capabilities. Our key growth initiatives have been the opening of
facilities in Guadalajara, Mexico; Navan, Ireland; Singapore; Hortolandia, Brazil, Yokohama, Japan; and Bangkok,
Thailand and the acquisition of established businesses in Almelo, the Netherlands; San Jose, California; Dunseith, North
Dakota; Taunton, Massachusetts; Mountain View, California; and Chaska, Minnesota. Recently, we have completed
expansions in our Austin, Texas and Tianjin, China operations as well as entered into a joint venture start-up agreement in
Brasov, Romania as of April, 2004. These growth initiatives have given us:

s expanded geographic presence in established and emerging markets and strengthened our presence in target
industries;

e enhanced product and service offerings in our chosen geographies, while allowing us to offer cost-effective
manufacturing and engineering capabilities;

® .access to new customers or additional business from existing customers; and

e specialized product design, automation and test and manufacturing customer solutions.

Our sales are generally derived from master supply and manufacturing agreements, with current demand evidenced by
purchase orders, or from specific purchase orders for discrete projects. We charge our customers separately for
engineering and manufacturing services. We recognize revenues from product sales, net of product returns and warranty
costs, typically at the time of product shipment. In limited circumstances, although the product remains in our facilities,
we recognize revenue when title to, and risks and rewards of ownership of, the products have contractually passed to the
customer. Revenue from services is recognized as they are performed and collection is reasonably certain. Our sales from
engineering services, which include process test and automation equipment and prototype development, accounted for
11.8%, 12.0% and 12.5% of our total net sales in fiscal 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. Manufacturing services,
including process test and automation equipment and prototype production, accounted for 88.2%, 88.0% and 87.5% of our
total net sales in fiscal 2004, 2003, and 2002, respectively.

Our cost of goods sold includes the cost of components and materials, labor costs and manufacturing overhead. The
procurement of raw materials and components requires us to commit significant working capital to our operations and to
manage the purchasing, receiving, inspection and stocking of these items. Our production volumes are based on purchase
orders for the delivery of products. These orders typically do not commit firm production schedules for more than 30 to 90
days in advance. We work to minimize the risk of obsolete inventory by ordering materials and components only to the
extent necessary to satisfy existing customer orders. To the extent our orders of materials and components for specific jobs
exceed products ultimately delivered to our customers and they are not held fully responsible for our excess inventory, due
to their financial condition or business relationship considerations, we may incur a charge for inventory obsolescence for
the excess inventory. We believe we are largely protected from the risk of inventory price increases, because we generally
can pass these costs through to our customers.

12




Our operating results are also impacted by the level of capacity utilization of our manufacturing facilities, indirect
manufacturing labor, and selling, general and administrative expenses. During periods of high capacity utilization, our
gross margins and operating margins generally improve, while during periods of lower capacity utilization, our gross
margins and operating margins generally decline. Our infrastructure will support substantially higher Ievels of sales than
our current net sales. Reduction in production space during fiscal 2003 and increases in our Austin, Texas and Tianjin,
China facilities during fiscal 2004 were made in response to market conditions in the affected geographies. We continue to
evaluate market conditions and capacity needs.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The table below sets forth certain operating data expressed as a percentage of our net sales for the years indicated:

Year Ended March 31,
2004 2003 2002

INEL SALES .ovveiier i rireeirii et creeenrer e tneeesreesbe e s stresbneesbaeenne 100.0 % 100.0 % 100.0 %
Cost of 200ds 50Id.....occvciiiiiiii 929 % 95.3 % 95.4 %
GIOSS PIOTI c.vviecciivieiie e eiia e ste e ebe et e e saneesae e e sarene 7.1 % 4.7 % 4.6 %
Selling, general and administrative eXpenses..........coeveuen. 7.7 % 7.6 % 8§1%
RESTUCIUIING .ottt 12% T% - %
AMNOTHZAON c.vvieieieeierrener e eee e seieresresstnnessnesens - % - % 3%
Goodwill impairment charge..........coccveiinrienincenieneninnnne - % -% 37 %
Operating J0SS oo (1.8)%- (3.6)% (7.5)%
Other inCOme (EXPENSE) ~ NEL..cevvereervaererverirereereererinererenenns 1% -% A%
INLErESt EXPEISE . .vviieriititerircirc e e raeneens {(1.2)% (1.3)% {1.1)%
Loss before income taxes and cumulative effect

of accounting change.........coceovvevvrerrinnenceren s 2.9% (4.9% 8.5)%
Income tax expense (benefit) ...c.ccovviviiiinveiinnnicnininen 1% 1% ()%
Loss before cumulative effect of accounting

CHANGE . vevi et 3.0)% (5.00% 8.2)%
Cumulative effect of accounting change...........cccccevnennnn, - % (.8)% - %
INELIOSS. e tiierririri ittt esce s srrecin s e serassseaesnnesseressannesen 3.0)% (5.8)% (8.2Y%

Fiscal Year Ended March 31, 2004 Compared to Fiscal Year Ended March 31, 2003

Net sales — Our net sales for fiscal 2004 increased $1.3 million, or 0.2%, to $669.4 million from $668.2 million in fiscal
2003. These totals include sales of excess inventory of $8.4 million and $23.8 million for fiscal 2004 and fiscal 2003,
respectively. Excluding inventory sales, fiscal 2004 sales were up by $16.6 million when compared to fiscal 2003.
Increased sales resulted from expanded operations with an existing customer, increased orders from existing customers,
and winning new business from new customers primarily in the industrial and computing and data storage sector. This
increase was, offset by decreased sales in the communications market due to continued sluggish demand in our optical and
infrastructure business and new product transitions with wireless handset customers. Sales to the medical industry also
decreased primarily as a result of customer project life cycles and transitions. Specifically, industrial sales were up $61.9
million, computing and data storage sales were up $11.5 million, offset by a decrease in sales of $63.6 million in our
communications business and $8.6 million in medical. Over the year, we continued to diversify our revenue base within the
industries we serve. Industrial equipment industry net sales increased to 31.7% of sales from 22.5% in fiscal 2003. This
large increase is chiefly a result of our expanded Austin, Texas operations which accounted for $33.1 million in fiscal
2004. Net sales to the computer and data storage industry increased to 36.2% of sales versus 34.5% a year ago and net
sales to the medical industry were 4.6% of sales compared to 5.9% in fiscal 2003. Net sales to communication customers
for fiscal 2004 decreased as a percentage of total sales to 27.5% of sales compared to 37.1% in fiscal 2003. Again, this
decrease resulted from challenging economic conditions facing the communications industry due to lower demand. The
Company’s five largest customers for fiscal 2004 accounted for approximately 44% of net sales with IBM accounting for
22.3% of fiscal 2004 sales.

Gross profit - Our gross profit increased $16.7 million in fiscal 2004 to $47.8 million, or 7.1% of net sales, from $31.1
. million, or 4.7% of net sales, in fiscal 2003. This increase was due to a change in sales mix including increased sales and
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higher gross profit industrial customers for $10.8 million, increased sales to our computing and data storage customers
adding $9.8 million. These increases were somewhat offset by lower gross margin associated with our decreased
communications business accounting for a $0.8 million decrease, and lower sales to higher-margin medical customers,
accounting for a decrease in gross profit of $3.1 million compared to the prior year. Included in these changes in gross
profit by market was cost savings from restructuring actions and lower inventory write-downs of $0.8 million in fiscal
2004 compared to $8.1 million for fiscal 2003. During fiscal 2004, we continued our planned restructuring efforts
including the reduction of headcount and consolidation of certain facilities to further reduce our cost structure. The
facilities and headcount infrastructure may result in additional under absorbed capacity if sales volumes decrease. We will
continue to monitor and take actions in order to balance our cost structure to the anticipated level of net sales.

Selling, general and administrative expenses - Our selling, general and administrative expenses increased slightly to $52.0
million (7.7% of net sales) in fiscal 2004 from $51.1 million (7.6% of net sales) in fiscal 2003. We incurred charges for
accounts receivable of $0.9 million in fiscal 2004 due to uncertainty of collection of accounts receivable from emerging
companies and customers in bankruptcy compared to $2.2 million in fiscal 2003. Other factors affecting the selling,
general, and administrative expenses were new expenses associated with the Austin, Texas operations of $0.5 million,
higher information technology (IT) costs from continued worldwide IT implementations of $1.4 million, increased
domestic employee benefit costs of $0.4 million, and higher commissions associated with the different sales mix of $0.4
million, partially offset by savings from restructuring efforts.

Restructuring costs — In fiscal 2004, we recognized restructuring costs of $8.0 million related to numerous actions taken to
reduce our cost structure compared to $4.2 million in fiscal 2003. The actions include, but are not limited to, personnel
severance costs of $1.0 million, consolidation of certain facilities and lease commitments ($4.6 million for fiscal 2004
actions and $0.9 million of adjustment to fiscal 2003 action provisions), and write-offs of certain assets of $1.2 million.
Savings related to facility consolidations and headcount reductions during fiscal 2004 were $6.3 million. These savings are
reflected in the discussion above with respect to gross profit and selling, general and administrative expenses.

Amortization - Amortization of goodwill and other intangibles were $0.1 million in fiscal 2004 and 2003. As of April 1,
2002, we adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.”
The adoption of this statement resulted in no amortization being taken in fiscal 2004 or 2003 for new or existing goodwill
on the balance sheet, however, it did result in an impairment charge of $5.3 million at the April 1, 2002 transition date for
the cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle, which has been reflected in the fiscal 2003 net loss.

Other income (expense) - Other income, net, was $0.8 million in fiscal 2004 compared to $0.6 million in fiscal 2003. This
change in other income was primarily a result of higher currency exchange gains in certain foreign locations of $0.4
million.

Interest expense - Interest expense decreased $1.1 million to $7.8 million in fiscal 2004 from $8.9 million in fiscal 2003.
This decrease largely reflects reduced and fewer bank and waiver fees on our domestic lines of credit of $1.0 million.

Income tax expense (benefit) - The income tax expense was $0.5 million in fiscal 2004 compared to $0.8 million in fiscal
2003. The low effective tax rate for fiscal 2004 is a result of no tax benefits being recognized on operating losses in the
United States, Mexico and Netherlands. Our effective income tax rate in these countries will continue to be low until these
operations are profitable. In addition, we have tax holidays in Singapore, China and Thailand, which caused our effective
rate to be low. As these holidays expire, we expect the effective rate to increase

Fiscal Year Ended March 31, 2003 Compared to Fiscal Year Ended March 31, 2002

Net sales — Our net sales for fiscal 2003 increased $10.7 million, or 1.6%, to $668.2 million from $657.5 million in fiscal
2002. This increase resulted from increased sales to existing and new customers in the computer and data storage, medical
and industrial industries offset, in part, by decreased sales in our communications markets. Over the year, we continued to
diversify our revenue base within the industries we serve. Net sales to the medical industry grew 75.1% to 5.9% of sales
compared to 3.4% in fiscal 2002. Industrial equipment industry net sales increased 27.1% to 17.5% of sales from 14.0% in
fiscal 2002. Net sales to the computer and data storage industry accounted for 39.4% of sales versus 38.1% a year ago.
Net sales to communication customers for fiscal 2003 decreased as a percentage of total sales to 37.2% of sales compared
to 44.5% in fiscal 2002. This decrease resulted from challenging economic conditions facing the communications industry.
The Company’s five largest customers for fiscal 2003 accounted for approximately 47% of net sales, two of which
exceeded 10% of net sales.

Gross profit - Our gross profit increased $1.1 million in fiscal 2003 to $31.1 million, from $30.0 million in fiscal 2002.
This increase was due to cost savings of restructuring actions taken during fiscal 2003 offset, in part, by changes in sales
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mix including reduced sales volumes from higher gross profit communication customers. We incurred inventory write-
downs of $8.1 million in fiscal 2003 versus $5.4 million in fiscal 2002 for excess inventory due to customer bankruptcies,
reduced customer orders below anticipated levels and order cancellations as the communications market continued its
decline early in our 2003 fiscal year. Over the year, we completed our planned restructuring efforts including the reduction
of headcount and consolidation of certain facilities. These actions are realizing cost savings exceeding $3 million per
quarter. The facilities and infrastructure developed to support higher levels of net sales will continue to be an operating
issue if sales volumes decrease. We will continue to monitor and take necessary actions in order to balance our cost
structure to the anticipated level of net sales.

Selling, general and administrative expenses - Our selling, general and administrative expenses decreased $2.3 million to
$51.1 million (7.6% of net sales) in fiscal 2003 from $53.4 million (8.1% of net sales) in fiscal 2002. We incurred charges
for accounts receivable of $2.2 million in fiscal 2003 due to uncertainty of collection of accounts receivable from emerging
companies and customers in bankruptcy compared to $8.2 million in fiscal 2002. An additional significant factor in this
decrease was the restructuring efforts completed in fiscal 2003. These decreases in selling, general, and administrative
expenses were partially offset by increased expenses due to the startup of our new operation in Israel in fiscal 2003 and the
full year impact of the Chaska operation, which was acquired in the latter part of fiscal 2002. We also incurred an
increased level of legal, audit, insurance and information technology and software expenses in fiscal 2003 compared to
fiscal 2002.

Restructuring costs ~ In fiscal 2003, we recognized restructuring costs of $4.2 million related to numerous actions taken to
reduce our cost structure. The actions include, but are not limited to, severance costs, consolidation of certain facilities,
and write-offs of certain assets and lease commitments.

Amortization - Amortization of goodwill and other intangibles decreased $2.1 million to $0.1 million in fiscal 2003 from
$2.2 million in fiscal 2002, primarily as a result of our adoption of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS)
No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets”. The adoption of this statement resulted in no amortization being taken
in fiscal 2003 for new or existing goodwill on the balance sheet, however, it did result in an impairment charge of $5.3
million at the April 1, 2002 transition date for the cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle, which has been
reflected in the fiscal 2003 net loss.

Other income (expense) - Other income, net, was $0.6 million in fiscal 2003 compared to other income, net, of $0.8 million
in fiscal 2002. This change in other income was primarily a result of lower currency exchange gains in certain foreign
locations.

Interest expense - Interest expense increased $1.8 million to $8.9 million in fiscal 2003 from $7.1 million in fiscal 2002.
This increase reflects increased interest rates on our variable lines of credit, fees from covenant waiver negotiations and
write-offs of loan fees relating to a reduction in total borrowings available under our domestic credit facility.

Income tax expense (benefit) - The income tax expense was $.8 million in fiscal 2003 compared to a tax benefit of $1.9
million in fiscal 2002. The low effective tax rate for fiscal 2003 is a result of no tax benefits being recognized on operating
losses in the United States, Mexico and Netherlands, where the effective tax rate will continue until these operations are
profitable as well as the low marginal tax rates on profits located in certain of our international operations. The benefit for
fiscal 2002 was created as a result of the recognition of the available refund of previously paid taxes from the carryback of
a portion of the fiscal 2002 United States tax loss to prior years.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

We have funded our operations from the proceeds of bank debt, private and public offerings of equity and convertible debt,
cash generated from operations and lease financing of capital equipment. Historically, our principal uses of cash have been
to fund our working capital needs, business acquisitions, expanded operations, capital expenditures and debt service
requirements. We anticipate these uses will continue to be our principal uses of cash in the future.

Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities for fiscal 2004, 2003, and 2002 was ($20.7) million, $47.3 million, and
(30.3) million, respectively. The net cash used in operating activities increased significantly due to increased levels of
inventories accounting for $48.0 million and accounts receivable accounting for $26.4 million. The cash cycle lengthened
to 54 days in fiscal 2004 from 50 days in fiscal 2003 primarily due to the inventory needed to support the significant
growth in our industrial business in the second half of fiscal 2004.

Net cash used in investing activities for fiscal 2004, 2003, and 2002 was $21.5 million, $15.6 million, and $61.2 million,
respectively. In fiscal 2004, our cash used in investing activities included $4.2 million used to pay additional purchase
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price for Pacific Consultants LLC, completing payment of all conditional obligations in this agreement. Capital
expenditures were $21.7 million in fiscal 2004 or an increase of $9.2 million as compared to the prior fiscal year. Capital
expenditures were principally used for expansion of our China facility accounting for $14.6 million.

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities for fiscal 2004, 2003, and 2002 was $18.9 million, ($9.9) million, and
$67.2 million, respectively. Our principal provider of cash in financing activities in fiscal 2004 was $20.0 million from
stock sales, during the second quarter of fiscal 2004, when PEMSTAR completed an offering of 7.5 million shares of its
common stock.

As of March 31, 2004, we had unrestricted cash of $9.8 million and total borrowings, including capitalized lease
obligations, of approximately $91.1 million. Of these borrowings, we had approximately $36.9 million outstanding under
our domestic credit facilities, $29.3 million outstanding under our ICBC (Industrial & Commercial Bank of China) credit
facility and $1.5 million under our Thai Farmers bank facility. Liquidity, which is defined as cash plus available domestic
borrowing capacity, stood at $41.9 million.

As of April 25, 2003, Pemstar entered into a three-year, $90 million revolving credit facility to replace its facility with IBM
Credit and US Bank. This new facility is with Congress Financial Corporation (a subsidiary of Wachovia Bank, N.A.),
Fleet Capital, GMAC, and US Bank. This new bank agreement provided a larger facility with generally more favorable
terms.

All of these credit facilities are secured by substantially all of our assets. Domestic credit facilities include a covenant to
attain minimum earnings before interest expense, income taxes, depreciation and amortization (EBITDA), for domestic and
worldwide operations. These covenants do not apply however, if we maintain at least $13.0 million in available domestic
borrowings capacity. As of March 31, 2004, we had $32.1 million of available domestic borrowing capacity. We are
required under certain foreign credit facilities to meet various financial covenants, including minimum location net worth,
maximum debt to equity ratios, and minimum location net income, all of which we were in compliance with at March 31,
2004.

In addition to our credit facilities, we had other debt obligations totaling $9.8 million and capital lease obligations of $13.6
million as of March 31, 2004. See Notes 6 and 10 to our consolidated financial statements.

Our continued viability depends on our ability to generate sufficient cash from operations or obtain additional sources of
funds for working capital. Our ability to maintain sufficient liquidity depends, in part, on our achieving anticipated
revenue targets and intended expense reductions from our restructuring activities. We believe, as a result of the
restructuring actions we have taken in fiscal 2003 and 2004 to reduce cash expenditures, the efforts we continue to make to
increase revenues from continuing customers, as well as efforts to generate new customers in various industry sectors, the
sale and leaseback financing, and our new revolving credit facilities, which provides additional borrowing capacity, that we
have sufficient cash flow to meet our needs for fiscal 2005. We may not achieve these targets or realize the intended
expense reductions. If our operating goals are not met, we may be required to secure additional watvers of any resulting
covenant violations under existing lending facilities, secure additional financing from lenders or sell additional securities.

We regularly review acquisition and additional facilities expansion or joint venture opportunities, as well as major new
program opportunities with new or existing customers, any of which may require us to sell additional equity or secure
additional financing in order to fund the requirement. The sale of additional equity could result in additional dilution to our
shareholders. We cannot be assured that financing arrangements will be available in amounts or on terms acceptable to us.

CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS AND COMMERCIAL COMMITMENTS

The Company is obligated to make future payments under various contracts, such as debt agreements, lease agreements,
and unconditional purchase obligations. The following table represents contractual cash obligations and other commercial
commitments of the Company as of March 31, 2004:

(Amounts in thousands) Duein Due in Duein Due in Due in Due
Total Fiscal 2005 Fiscal 2006 Fiscal 2007 Fiscal 2008 Fiscal 2009 Thereafter

Revolving credit facilities $ 66,674 §$ 66,674 $ - 3 - 8 - $ - $ -
Other long-term debt 10,800 1,944 1,640 1,840 5132 61 183
Capital lease obligations 31,813 3,157 1,505 1,361 1,389 7,343 17,058
Operating leases 43,759 9,504 8,344 6,949 6,006 5,824 7,132
Unconditional purchase obligations 32,074 32,074 - - - - -
Total contractual cash obligations 1 20 §$113353 114 $10150 $12.527 13,22 24.37
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Domestic revolving credit facilities of $36,872, included above will not require repayment on a current basis, provided that
credit facility covenants continue to be met or minimum excess borrowing capacity is maintained. See Notes 6 and 10 to
the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information regarding these obligations.

{Amounts in thousands) Committed Amount of commitment expiration
Total Over §
Amounts 1 year 2 years 3 years 4 years 5 years years
Standby letters of credit $ 2900 $290 $ - - 3 - $ - 8 -

QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISKS
Interest Rate Risk

Our exposure to interest rate risk arises principally from the variable rates associated with our borrowings. On March 31,
2004, we had total borrowings of $66.7 million bearing variable interest rates. An adverse change of one percent in the
interest rate of all borrowings, which bear interest at variable rates, would cause us to incur a change in interest expense of
approximately $0.7 million on an annual basis.

Foreign Currency Exchange Risk

Fluctuations in the rate of exchange between the U.S. dollar and the currencies of countries other than the U.S. in which we
conduct business could adversely affect our financial results. Except for sales in the Netherlands, Singapore and China,
our sales are principally denominated in U.S. dollars. As a result, we have relatively limited exposure to foreign currency
exchange risk on our sales. For fiscal 2004, sales denominated in Euros totaled $57.2 million, sales denominated in
Singapore dollars totaled $42.5 million and sales denominated in Chinese Renminbi totaled $87.1 million. Costs related to
these sales are largely denominated in their respective currencies, thereby limiting our transaction risk exposures.
However, for sales not denominated in U.S. dollars, if there is an increase in the rate at which a foreign currency is
—exchanged for U.S. dollars, it will require more of the foreign currency to equal a specified amount of U.S. dollars than
before the rate increase. In such cases, and if we price our products and services in the foreign currency, we will receive
less in U.S. dollars than we did before the rate increase went into effect. If we price our products and services in U.S.
dollars and competitors price their products in local currency, an increase in the relative strength of the U.S. dollar could
result in our prices being uncompetitive in a market where business is transacted in the local currency.

The reported results of our foreign operations will be influenced during their translation into U.S. dollars by currency
movements against the U.S. dollar. The result of a uniform 10% strengthening in the value of the U.S. dollar from March
31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 levels relative to each of the currencies in which our revenues and expenses are denominated
would have resulted in a decrease in operating income of approximately $1.3 million, $1.2 million and $0.3 million,
respectively, for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002.

At March 31, 2004 and 2003, the amount we consider permanently invested in foreign subsidiaries and translated into
dollars using the year end exchange rate was $66.8 million and $53.1 million, respectively, and the potential loss in fair
~value resulting from a hypothetical 10% strengthening in the value of the U.S. dollar currency exchange rate amounts to
$6.1 million and $4.8 million, respectively. Actual amounts may differ.

- We currently do not hedge our exposure to foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations; however, we may hedge such
exposures in the future.

Impact of Inflation
We believe that our results of operations are not dependent upon moderate changes in the inflation rate.
CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations discusses our consolidated
financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States. The preparation of these financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect
the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the
financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. On an on-going basis,
management evaluates its estimates and adjustments, including those related to returns, bad debts, inventories, intangible
assets, income taxes, restructuring costs, retirement benefits, and contingencies and litigation. Management bases its
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estimates and judgments on historical experience and on various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities
that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different
assumptions or conditions. :

Management believes the following critical accounting policies, among others, affect its more significant judgments and
estimates used in the preparation of its consolidated financial statements.

Bad Debts - The Company has a diverse customer base. The creditworthiness of customers is evaluated before sales are
approved. The Company records an allowance for doubtful accounts based on past history, current economic conditions
and the composition of its accounts receivable aging, and in some instances, makes allowances for specific customers
based on several factors, such as the creditworthiness of those customers and payment history. Actual write-offs may
differ from the allowances for doubtful accounts, and this difference may have a material effect on the Company’s
financial position and results of operations.

Inventories - We value our inventories on a first-in, first-out basis at the lower of cost or estimated market value. Given the
volatility of the markets in which the Company operates, the Company makes adjustments to its value of inventories based
on estimates of potentially excess and obsolete inventory after considering customer forecasted demand, forecasted average
selling price and its ability to sell excess inventory quantities back to its customers within contract terms. However,
forecasts are subject to revisions, cancellations, and rescheduling. Actual demand will inevitably differ from such
anticipated demand, and such differences may have a material effect on the Company’s financial position and results of
operations, if additional write-offs are required.

Goodwill and Intangible Impairment - During the year ended March 31, 2002, we recorded $24.2 million in impairment
losses related to goodwill and other intangible assets under accounting principles effective at that time. Effective April 1,
2002, we adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets”.
Under this standard, goodwill and other intangible assets with indefinite lives are no longer amortized. This standard
requires, at a minimum, that we perform an annual assessment of the carrying value of these assets. If the carrying value of
goodwill and intangible assets exceeds its fair value, an impairment loss will be recognized. During the year ended March
31, 2003, we recorded a $5.3 million impairment loss as the transition date cumulative effect of a change in accounting
principle. See Note 1 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, included herein. In assessing the recoverability of our
goodwill and other intangible assets we must make assumptions regarding estimated future cash flows and other factors to
determine the fair value of the respective assets. These cash flow estimates take into account current customer volumes
and the expectation of new or renewal projects, historic gross margins, historic working capital parameters and planned
capital expenditures. If these estimates or their related assumptions change in the future, we may be required to record
impairment charges for these assets not previously recorded.

Long-lived assets — We review our long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate
that our carrying value of long-lived may not be recoverable. Long-lived assets are considered not recoverable when the
carrying amount of a long-lived asset (asset group) exceeds the sum of the undiscounted cash flows expected to result from
the use and eventual disposition of the asset (asset group). If we determine that a long-lived asset (asset group) is not
recoverable, an impairment loss is recorded equal to the excess of the carrying amount of the long-lived asset (asset group)
over the long-lived asset’s (asset group’s) fair value. Fair value is the amount at which the long-lived asset (asset group)
could be bought or sold in a current transaction between a willing buyer and seller, other than in a forced or liquidation
sale.

Income Taxes - In determining the carrying value of our net deferred tax assets, we must assess the likelihood of sufficient
future taxable income in related tax jurisdictions, based on estimates and assumptions to realize the benefit of these assets.
If these estimates and related assumptions change in the future, we may be required to record additional valuation
allowances against our deferred tax assets, resulting in additional income tax expense in our consolidated statement of
operations. Management evaluates quarterly whether the deferred tax assets may be realized and assesses the need for
additional valuation allowances or reduction of existing allowances quarterly. We recorded $10.3 million and $8.6 million
of additional valuation allowances in the years ended March 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively, related to our net deferred tax
assets, bringing the total allowance to $45.7 million as of March 31, 2004

CAUTIONARY STATEMENTS
This report contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of federal securities laws that may include statements

regarding intent, belief or current expectations of Pemstar Inc. and our management. The Private Securities Litigation
Reform Act of 1995 provides a “safe harbor” for forward-looking statements to encourage companies to provide
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prospective information without fear of litigation so-long as those statements are identified as forward-looking and are
accompanied by meaningful cautionary statements identifying important factors that could cause actual results to differ
materially from those projected in the statement. We desire to take advantage of these “safe harbor” provisions.
Accordingly, we hereby identify the following important factors which could cause our actual results to differ materially
from any such results which may be projected, forecast, estimated or budgeted by us in forward-looking statements made
by us from time to time in reports, proxy statements, registration statements and other written communications, or in oral
forward-looking statements made from time to time by our officers and agents. The following list is not exhaustive and we
disclaim any obligation to subsequently revise any forward-looking statements to reflect events or circumstances after the
date of such statements.

Risks Relating to Our Business and Industry
Reductions in demand and other factors have caused net losses.

The continuing reduction in capital spending by businesses for new technologies, the remaining effects of the
recent recession and the market disruptions caused by the September 2001 terrorist attacks in the United States and threats
of hostilities in the Middle East and Asia have reduced demand in many of the technology markets we serve. As aresult of
these market conditions, we experienced a significant reduction in demand for our services during fiscal 2002, continuing
through fiscal 2003, which caused us to have net losses of $38.8 million in fiscal 2003. The losses continued into fiscal
2004, totaling $19.8 million by year end. Although the majority of these losses occurred in the first half of our year, there
is on-going uncertainty in the demand for our services, which may rapidly and significantly fluctuate. A return to the
recession, outbreak of hostilities or any other event leading to excess capacity or a continued or increased downturn in the
markets we serve would likely negatively affect our net sales. In addition, the communications, computing and data
storage, industrial and medical equipment markets of the electronics manufacturing services industry are characterized by
intense competition, relatively short product life-cycles and significant fluctuations in product demand. These markets are
also subject to rapid technological change and product obsolescence. If any of these factors or other factors reduce demand
for specitic products or components that we design or manufacture for our customers, our net sales would likely be
negatively affected. Due to these market conditions and factors, we may experience net losses in future periods.

We depend on a small number of customers for a significant portion of our net sales and the loss of any of our
major customers would harm us.

We depend on a relatively small number of customers for a significant portion of our net sales. Our two largest
customers in fiscal 2004 were IBM and Motorola, which represented approximately 30% of our total net sales. In addition,
our ten largest customers in fiscal 2004 accounted for approximately 62% of our net sales. We expect to continue to
depend upon a relatively small number of customers for a significant percentage of our net sales. Because our major
customers represent such a large part of our business, the loss of any of our major customers could negatively impact our
business.

Our major customers may not continue to purchase products and services from us at current levels or at all. In the
past, we have lost customers due to the acquisition of our customers, product discontinuation and customers' shifting
production of products to internal facilities. We may lose customers in the future for similar reasons. We may not be able
to expand our customer base to make up any sales shortfalls if we lose a major customer. Our attempts to diversify our
customer base and reduce our reliance on particular customers may not be successful.

Our business has been adversely affected by reductions or delays in customer orders.

We do not typically obtain firm long-term purchase orders or commitments from our customers. We work closely
with our customers to develop forecasts for future orders, but these forecasts are not binding. Customers may cancel their
orders, change production quantities from forecast volumes or delay production for a number of reasons beyond our
control. Any material delay, cancellation or reduction of orders from our largest customers could cause our net sales to
decline significantly and could result in us holding excess inventories of components and materials. In fiscal 2004, these
and similar factors caused us to recognize charges for inventory reserves and adjustments of $.8 million. We may be
required to recognize similar charges in future periods.

Many of our costs and operating expenses are relatively fixed. As a result, a reduction in customer demand can
decrease our gross profit and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.
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If we are unable to satisfy the financial covenants under our credit facility, our availability may be limited or we
may have to obtain alternative sources of financing.

We have historically experienced violations of covenants under our revolving credit facilities and have been
required to seek waivers for such violations. In anticipation of a potential covenant violation at the end of the first quarter
of fiscal 2004, we obtained a waiver from our lenders providing relief for the potential violation, as well as amending
future covenant requirements to reflect expected operating results for the balance of fiscal 2004. Compliance with these
covenants in our credit facility is dependent upon us achieving certain revenue and expense targets in our fiscal 2004
operating plan. If we do not comply with these covenants or if we default on our payment obligations under other debt
obligations, our availability under our credit facility could be reduced or our lenders could declare a default under the credit
facility. In the event of a default or a substantial reduction of availability, we would be required to obtain alternative
financing, which could be more expensive than our current arrangement, be dilutive to existing shareholders and divert
management’s time and attention. Moreover, we cannot assure that we would be able to obtain alternative financing on
favorable terms and on a timely basis, if at all. Our failure to meet any of our covenants under our credit facility could
significantly harm our liquidity and financial position.

We require additional sources of funds for working capital.

Our continued viability depends on our ability to generate additional cash from operations or obtain additional
sources of funds for working capital. Our ability to maintain sufficient liquidity depends, in part, on our achieving
anticipated revenue targets and intended expense reductions from our restructuring activities. We may not achieve these
targets or realize the intended expense reductions. If our operating goals are not met, we will be required to secure
additional financing from lenders or sell additional securities. We may not be able to obtain additional capital when we
want or need it, and capital may not be available on satisfactory terms. If we issue additional equity securities or
convertible debt to raise capital, it may be dilutive to your ownership interest. In addition, any additional capital may have
terms and conditions that adversely affect our business, such as financial or operating covenants.

We have been unable to collect all our accounts receivable.

Falling demand for the products of our technology customers and liquidity difficulties for these companies have
forced us to reach accommodations with a portion of our customers and have limited our ability to collect fully our
accounts receivable from these customers in fiscal 2002 and 2003. In addition, several significant customers have filed for
bankruptcy protection, which limits our recovery of accounts receivable from these customers. In fiscal 2004, these and
similar factors caused us to recognize charges for accounts receivable ad]ustments of $.8 million. We may be required to
recognize similar charges in future periods.

Qur acquisition strategy may not succeed.

As part of our business strategy, we have acquired other companies, assets or product lines that complement or
expand our existing business. These acquisitions have not been entirely successful, and in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2002,
we incurred approximately $24.2 million of goodwill impairment charges related to facilities acquired by us in the past
three years. As a result of implementing new accounting pronouncements in fiscal 2003, we recorded an additional
goodwill impairment charge of $5.3 million. Although we anticipate seeking further acquisition opportunities, we cannot
assure you that we will be able to identify suitable acquisition candidates or finance and complete transactions that we
select. We may incorrectly judge the value or worth of an acquired company or business. In addition, its key personnel
may decide not to work for us. We may also have difficulty in integrating acquired businesses, products, services and
technologies into our operations. These difficulties could disrupt our ongoing business, distract our management and
workforce, increase our expenses and adversely affect our operating results. Furthermore, we may incur significant debt or
be required to issue equity securities to pay for future acquisitions or investments. The issuance of equity securities could
be dilutive to our shareholders. Failure to execute our acquisition strategy may adversely affect our business, financial
condition and results of operations.

During periods of significant growth we may have trouble managing our expanded operations.

Rapid growth can place a significant strain on our management, financial resources and on our information,
operations and financial systems. We face risks associated with coordinating multinational operations and reporting
systems, diverse technologies and multiple products and services. In addition, our growth has increased our expenses and
working capital requirements. If we are unable to manage our growth effectively, it may have an adverse effect on our
business, financial condition and results of operations. We cannot assure you that we will manage our growth effectively
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Our financial condition could suffer if we fail to successfully defend pending lawsuits.

We are currently a defendant, along with several current and former officers and directors, in a consolidated putative class
action captioned: In re PEMSTAR Securities Litigation. We and our Board are also defendants in a consolidated
shareholder derivative action that is based on many of the same facts that gave rise to the securities class action. For further
information about the nature of these actions see Item 3 in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended March 31,
2004. We believe the securities action is wholly without merit and we have moved to dismiss the derivative action based
on the plaintiffs’ failure to make a demand that the Board consider the merits of the claims in that action. Although we are
vigorously.defending against both of these claims, these actions are in their early stages and we cannot predict their
outcomes. If we are not able to successfully defend these actions, our business and financial condition could suffer.

Increased-competition may result in decreased demand or prices for our services.

The electronics manufacturing services industry is highly competitive and characterized by low margins. We
compete against numerous U.S. and foreign service providers with global operations, as well as those who operate on a
local or regional basis. In addition, current and prospective customers continually evaluate the merits of manufacturing
products internally. Consolidation in the electronics manufacturing services industry results in a continually changing
competitive landscape. The consolidation trend in the industry also results in larger and more geographically diverse
competitors who have significant combined resources with which to compete against us. Some of our competitors have
- -substantially greater managerial, manufacturing, engineering, technical, financial, systems, sales and marketing resources
than we do. These competitors may:

. Respond more quickly to new or emerging technologies;

° Have greater name recognition, critical mass and geographic and market presence;
. Be better able to take advantage of acquisition opportunities;

° Adapt more quickly to changes in customer requirements; and

* Devote greater resources to the development, promotion and sale of their services.

We also may be operating at a cost disadvantage as compared to competitors who have greater direct buying
power from component suppliers, distributors and raw material suppliers or who have lower cost structures. Increased
competition from existing or potential competitors could result in price reductions, reduced margins or loss of market
share.

We anticipate that our net sales and operating results will flnctuate which could affect the price of our common
stock.

Our net sales and operating results have fluctuated and may continue to fluctuate significantly from quarter to
quarter. A substantial portion of our net sales in any given quarter may depend on obtaining and fulfilling orders for
assemblies to be manufactured and shipped in the same quarter in which those orders are received. Further, a significant
portion of our net sales in a given quarter may depend on assemblies configured, completed, packaged and shipped in the
final weeks of such quarter. Our operating results may fluctuate in the future as a result of many factors, including:

e Variations in customer orders relative to our manufacturing capacity;
. Variations in the timing of shipment of products to customers;
J Our ability to recognize revenue with respect to products held for customers;
° Introduction and market acceptance of our customers' new products;
. Changes in competitive and economic conditions generally or in our customers' markets;
. Effectiveness of our manufacturing processes, including controlling costs;
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. Changes in cost and availability of components or skilled labor; and
. The timing and price we pay for acquisitions and related acquisition costs.

Our operating expenses are based on anticipated revenue levels and a high percentage of our operating expenses
are relatively fixed in the short term. As a result, any unanticipated shortfall in revenue in a quarter would likely adversely
affect our operating results for that quarter. Also, changes in our product assembly mix may cause our margins to fluctuate,
which could negatively impact our results of operations for that period. Results in any period should not be considered
indicative of the results to be expected in any future period. It is possible that in one or more future periods our results of
operations will fail to meet the expectations of securities analysts or investors, and the price of our common stock could
decline significantly.

Qur predictions of future operating results may not be achieved.

From time to time in earnings releases and otherwise, we may publish forecasts or other forward-looking
statements, or comment on the estimates of financial analysts, regarding our future results, including estimated revenues or
net earnings. Any forecast of, or comment on, our future performance reflects various assumptions. These assumptions are
subject to significant uncertainties, and as a matter of course, any number of them may prove to be incorrect. Further, the
achievement of any forecast depends on numerous risks and other factors (including those described in this discussion),
many of which are beyond our control. As a result, we cannot assure you that our performance will be consistent with any
management forecasts or comments or that the variation from such forecasts or comments will not be material and adverse.
You are cautioned not to base your entire analysis of our business and prospects upon isolated predictions, but instead are
encouraged to utilize our entire publicly available mix of historical and forward-looking information, as well as other
available information affecting us and our services, when evaluating our prospective results of operations.

Shortages or price fluctuations in component parts specified by our customers could delay product shipments and
adversely affect our profitability.

Many of the products we manufacture require one or more components that we order from sole-source suppliers.
Supply shortages for a particular component can delay production of all products using that component or cause cost
increases in the services we provide. In the past, some of the materials we use, such as capacitors and memory and logic
devices, have been subject to industry-wide shortages. As a result, suppliers have been forced to allocate available
quantities among their customers and we have not been able to obtain all of the materials desired. Our inability to obtain
these needed materials could slow production or assembly, delay shipments to our customers, increase costs and reduce
operating income. In certain circumstances, we may bear the risk of periodic component price increases. Accordingly,
some component price increases could increase costs and reduce our operating income.

In addition, if we fail to manage our inventory effectively, we may bear the risk of fluctuations in materials costs,
scrap and excess inventory, all of which adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. We are
required to forecast our future inventory needs based upon the anticipated demand of our customers. Inaccuracies in
making these forecasts or estimates could result in a shortage or an excess of materials. A shortage of materials could
lengthen production schedules and increase costs. An excess of materials may increase the costs of maintaining inventory
and may increase the risk of inventory obsolescence, both of which may increase expenses and decrease our profit margins
and operating income.

If we are unable to respond to rapidly changing technologies and process developments, we may not be able to
compete effectively.

The market for our products and services is characterized by rapidly changing technologies and continuing
process developments. The future success of our business will depend in large part upon our ability to maintain and
enhance our technological capabilities, to develop and market products and services that meet changing customer needs
and to successfully anticipate or respond to technological changes on a cost-effective and timely basis. Our core
technologies could in the future encounter competition from new or revised technologies that render existing technology
less competitive or obsolete or that reduce the demand for our services. We cannot assure you that we will effectively
respond to the technological requirements of the changing market. If we determine that new technologies and equipment
are required to remain competitive, the development, acquisition and implementation of these technologies may require us
to make significant capital investments. We cannot assure you that we will be able to obtain capital for these purposes in
the future or that investments in new technologies will result in commercially viable technological processes. The loss of
revenue and earnings to us from these changing technologies and process developments could adversely affect us.
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Operating in foreign countries exposes us to increased risks, which could adversely affect our results of operations.

We currently have foreign operations in Brazil, China, Ireland, Israel, Japan, Mexico, the Netherlands, Romania,
Singapore and Thailand. We may in the future expand into other international regions. We have limited experience in
managing geographically dispersed operations and in operating in foreign countries. We also purchase a significant number
of components manufactured in foreign countries. Because of the scope of our international operations, we are subject to
the following risks, which could adversely impact our results of operations:

. Economic or political instability;

U Transportation delays and interruptions;

. Foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations;

. Increased employee turnover and labor unrest;

. Longer payment cycles;

. Greater difficulty in collecting accounts receivable;

. Incompatibility of systems and equipment used in foreign operations;

e Difficulties in staffing and managing foreign personnel and diverse cultures; and
° Less developed infrastructures.

In addition, changes in policies by the United States or foreign governments could negatively affect our operating
results due to increased duties, increased regulatory requirements, higher taxation, currency conversion limitations,
restrictions on the transfer of funds, the imposition of or increase in tariffs and limitations on imports or exports. Also, we
could be negatively affected if our host countries revise their policies away from encouraging foreign investment or foreign
trade, including tax holidays.

We may be unable to protect our intellectual property, or we may be deemed to be infringing the intellectual
property rights of others, either of which would negatively affect our ability to compete and our results.

We rely on our proprietary technology, and we expect that future technological advances made by us will be
critical to remain competitive. Therefore, we believe that the protection of our intellectual property rights is, and will
continue to be, important to the success of our business. We rely on a combination of patent, trademark and trade secret
laws and restrictions on disclosure to protect our intellectual property rights. Despite the steps we have taken to protect our
intellectual property, unauthorized parties may attempt to copy or otherwise obtain and use our proprietary technology. We
cannot be certain that patents we have or that may be issued as a result of our pending patent applications will protect or
benefit us or give us adequate protection from competing technologies. We also cannot be certain that others will not
develop our unpatented proprietary technology or effective competing technologies on their own.

From time to time, third parties including our customers and competitors, may assert patent, copyright and other
intellectual property rights to technologies that are important to us. In this regard, in August 2002, we were named as
defendant in one of a number of actions currently being pursued by the Lemelson Foundation Partnership based on alleged
infringements of patent rights it claims in certain imaging analysis technology. The litigation has been stayed pending the
resolution of other litigation, to which we are not a party, asserting the invalidity and/or unenforceability of certain
Lemelson patents. Patents held by other companies, including Lemelson, may be determined to be valid, and some of our
products may ultimately be determined to infringe the patents or other intellectual property of other companies. The results
of any litigation are inherently uncertain. In the event of an adverse result in any litigation with respect to intellectual
property rights relevant to our products, we could be required to obtain licenses to the infringing technology, to pay
substantial damages under applicable law, to cease the manufacture, use and sale of infringing products or to expend
significant resources to develop non-infringing technology. Licenses may not be available from third parties, either on
commercially reasonable terms or at all. In addition, litigation frequently involves substantial expenditures and can require
significant management attention, even if we ultimately prevail. Accordingly, any infringement claim or litigation against
us could significantly harm our business, operating results and financial condition.
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Our inability to expand our Web-based supply chain management system could negatively impact our future
competitiveness.

Our future success depends in part on our ability to rapidly respond to changing customer needs by scaling
operations to meet customers’ requirements, shift capacity in response to product demand fluctuations, procure materials at
advantageous prices, manage inventory and effectively distribute products to our customers. In order to continue to meet
these customer requirements, we have developed a Web-based supply chain management system that enables us to
collaborate with our customers on product content and to process engineering changes. We are currently implementing an
enhanced version of our existing system, which will include real-time communications between our customers across all of
our facilities. Our inability to expand this Web-based system, or delays or defects in such expansion could negatively
impact our ability to manage our supply chain in an efficient and timely manner to meet customer demands, which could
adversely affect our competitive position and negatively affect our ability to be competitive in the electronics
manufacturing services industry.

Our business could suffer if we lose the services of, or fail to attract, key personnel.

Our future success largely depends on the skills and efforts of our executive management and our engineering,
manufacturing and sales employees. We do not have employment contracts or non-competition agreements with any of our
executive management or other key employees. The loss of services of any of our executives or other key personnel could
negatively affect our business. Our continued growth will also require us to attract, motivate, train and retain additional
skilled and experienced managerial, engineering, manufacturing and sales personnel. We face intense competition for such
personnel. We may not be able to attract, motivate and retain personnel with the skills and experience needed to
successfully manage our business and operations.

We are subject to a variety of environmental laws, which expose us to potential financial liability.

Our operations are regulated under a number of federal, state, provincial, local and foreign environmental laws
and regulations, which govern, among other things, the discharge of hazardous materials into the air and water as well as
the handling, storage and disposal of such materials. Compliance with these environmental laws is a significant
consideration for us because we use metals and other hazardous materials in our manufacturing processes. We may be
liable under.environmental laws for the cost of cleaning up properties we own or operate if they are or become
contaminated by the release of hazardous materials, regardless of whether we caused the release. In addition, we, along
with any other person who arranges for the disposal of our wastes, may be liable for costs associated with an investigation
and remediation of sites at which we have arranged for the disposal of hazardous wastes, if such sites become
contaminated, even if we fully comply with applicable environmental laws. In the event of contamination or violation of
environmental laws, we could be held liable for damages including fines, penalties and the costs of remedial actions and
could also be subject to revocation of our discharge permits. Any such penalties or revocations could require us to cease or
limit production at one or more of our facilities, thereby harming our business.

Risks Relating to Our Common Stock
The market price of our common stock could fluctuate in response to quarterly operating results and other factors.

The market price of our common stock has fluctuated significantly in the past and may fluctuate significantly in
the future in response to quarterly operating results and other factors, including many over which we have no control and
that may not be directly related to us. The stock market has from time to time experienced extreme price and volume
fluctuations, which have often been unrelated or disproportionate to the operating performance of particular companies.
Fluctuations or decreases in the trading price of our common stock may adversely affect your ability to trade your shares
and you may lose all or part of your investment. In addition, these fluctuations could adversely affect our ability to raise
capital through future equity financings.

Future sales of our common stock may cause our stock price to decline and may cause dilution to our existing
shareholders.

As of May 31, 2004, our directors, executive officers and largest shareholder beneficially owned an aggregate of 6,952,387
shares, or 13.3%, of our common stock. In addition, substantially all of our outstanding shares of common stock are freely
tradable without restriction or further registration. Sales of substantial amounts of common stock by our shareholders or
even the potential for such sales, may cause the market price of our common stock to decline and could impair our ability
to raise capital through the sale of our equity securities.
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As noted above, we may need additional funding, which may be raised through issuances of equity securities and
securities convertible into equity securities, to provide us with the capital to reach our objectives. We also have the right to
issue, at the discretion of our board of directors, shares upon such terms and conditions and at such prices as our board of
directors may establish. In addition, we may in the future issue preferred stock that might have priority over our common
stock as to distributions and liquidation proceeds. Such offerings would dilute the ownership interest of existing
shareholders and could cause a dilution of the net tangible book value of such shares.

Provisions in our charter documents and Minnesota law may delay or prevent an unsolicited takeover effort to
acquire our company, which could inhibit your ability to receive an acquisition premium for your shares.

Provisions of our amended articles of incorporation and our amended and restated bylaws and provisions of
Minnesota law may delay or prevent an unsolicited takeover effort to acquire our company on terms that you may consider
to be favorable. These provisions include the following:

. No cumulative voting by shareholders for directors;

. A classified board of directors with three-year staggered terms

. The abf‘lity of our board to set the size of the board of directors, to create new directorships and to fill
vacancies

. The ability of our board, without shareholder approval, to issue preferred stock, which may have rights

and preferences that are superior to our common stock;
. The ability of our board to amend the bylaws;

. A shareholder rights plan, which discourages the unauthorized acquisition of 15% or more of our
common stock or an unauthorized exchange or tender offer;

. Restrictions under Minnesota law on mergers or other business combinations between us and any holder
of 10% or more of our outstanding common stock; and

. A requirement that at least two-thirds of our shareholders and at least two-thirds of our directors approve
certain amendments of our articles of incorporation.
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

PEMSTAR Inc.
(In thousands, except per share data) March 31, March 31,
2004 2003
Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 9,792 $ 32,762
Restricted cash 4 4,268
Accounts receivable, net 127,583 112,316
Recoverable income taxes 1,122 282
Inventories, net 94,482 69,279
Unbilled services 11,547 10,797
Deferred income taxes 63 35
Prepaid expenses and other 14,609 7474
Total current assets 259,202 237,213
Property, plant and equipment, net 93,121 93,200
Goodwill, net 33,878 33,771
Deferred income taxes 2,177 1,705
Other assets 6477 6,173
Total assets $ 394.855 $ 372.062
Liabilities and shareholders’ equity
Current liabilities:
Cash overdraft $ 7,296 $ -
Revolving credit facilities and current maturities of long-term
debt 68,618 68,297
Current maturities of capital lease obligations 1,769 5,288
Accounts payable 101,694 88,083
Income taxes payable 631 191
Accrued expenses and other 22.947 22,631
Total current liabilities 202,955 184,490
Long-term debt, less current maturities 8,856 10,276
Capital lease obligations, less current maturities 11,867 12,843
Other liabilities and deferred credits 7,384 4,586
Shareholders’ equity:
Common stock, par value $0.01, 150,000 shares authorized;

shares issued and outstanding; 2004 — 45,136 shares;

2003 — 37,486 shares 451 375
Additional paid-in capital 255,153 234,943
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) 3,081 (14)
Accumulated deficit (94,728) (74,928)
Loans to shareholders (164) (509)

Total shareholders’ equity 163,793 159,867
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $394,855 $372.062

See notes to consolidated financial statements.

26




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

PEMSTAR Inc.

(In thousands, except per share data)

Net sales
Costs of goods sold -
Gross profit

~ Selling, general and administrative expenses
Restructuring costs

Amortization

Goodwill impairment charges

Operating loss

Other income (expense) — net

Interest expense

Loss before income taxes and
cumulative effect of accounting change

Income tax expense (benefit)
Loss before cumulative effect of
accounting change

Cumulative effect of accounting change
Net loss

Basic and diluted loss per common share:
Loss before cumulative effect of
accounting change
Cumulative effect of accounting change
Net loss.

Average shares used in computing net loss per
common share:

Basic and diluted

See notes to consolidated financial statements.

Year Ended March 31,
2004 2003 2002

$ 669,446 $ 668,175 $ 657,493
621,630 637.074 627.457
47,816 31,101 30,036
52,023 51,076 53,351
7,961 4,249 -
107 129 2,152

- - 24.228
(12,275) (24,353) (49,695)
793 558 829
_(1.815) (8.870) (7.077)
(19,297) (32,665) (55,943)
503 753 (1.926)
(19,800) (33,418) (54,017)
- (5.346) -
$ (19.800) $ (38,764) $ (54.017)
$ (47 $ (90) $(1.56)
- (1 -

$ (4D $(1.04) $(1.56)
42,002 37,133 34,717
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

PEMSTAR Inc.

(In thousands)

Balance, March 31, 2001
Issuance of common stock in
employee stock programs
Payments on loans to
shareholders
Issuance of common stock
Issuance of common stock
in connection with
business acquisitions
Comprehensive (loss)
income:
Net loss
Foreign currency
translation adjustment
Comprehensive loss
Balance, March 31, 2002
Issuance of common stock in
employee stock programs
Payments on loans to
shareholders
Issuance of warrants
Comprehensive (loss)
income:
Net loss
Foreign currency
translation adjustment
Comprehensive loss
Balance, March 31, 2003
Issuance of common stock in
employee stock programs
Payments on loans to
shareholders
Issuance of common stock
Comprehensive loss:
Net loss
Foreign currency
translation adjustment
Comprehensive loss
Balance, March 31, 2004

Accumulated
Additional Other
Common Stock Paid-In Comprehensive
Shares Amount Capital Income (Loss)
28,294 $§ 283 $137,139 $(2,299)
1,271 12 5,782 -
6,275 63 79,321 -
861 9 9,991 -
- - - 168
36,701 367 232,233 (2,131)
785 8 1,092 -
- - 1,618 -
- - - 2,117
37,486 375 234,943 (14)
191 1 365 -
(16) - (61) -
7,475 75 19,906 -
- - - 3,095
45.13 $451 $255.153 $ 3081

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Retained
Earnings
(Accumulated
Deficit)

Loans to
Shareholders

Total

$17,853

(54,017)

$ (2,264)
(108)

1,464

$150,712
5,686
1,464
79,384

10,0600

(54,017)

168
(53.849)

(36,164)

(38,764)

(905;)

399

193,397
1,100
399
1,618

(38,764)

2,117

(36,647)

(74,928)

(19,800)

(509)

345

159,867
366

284
19,981

(19,800)

3.095

(16,705)

$(94.728)

$ (164)

$163.793



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

- PEMSTAR Inc: : ,
Year ended March 31,
(In thousands) 2004 2003 2002
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss $ (19,8000 $(38,764) $(54,017)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by
(used in) operating activities:
Depreciation 22,082 20,021 18,299
Amortization 1,426 1,693 3,085
Goodwill impairment charge/accounting change - 5,346 24,228
Deferred income taxes (500) (584) 1,059
Non-cash restructuring charges and other 1,201 1,086 (49)
Other deferred credits 907) (844) (356)
Change in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable (13,5006) 12,885 (12,596)
Inventories (23,056) 24,991 24,986
Recoverable income taxes (840) 3,591 (3,873)
Unbilled services (750) 5,559 (6,622)
Prepaid expenses and other (6,695) 1,487 (2,318)
Accounts payable 12,273 7,285 7,554
Accrued expenses and other 8.333 3,559 313
Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities (20,739) 47311 (307)
Cash flows used in investing activities:
Decrease (increase) in restricted cash 4,264 1,296 (1,090)
Business acquisitions, net of cash acquired (4,223) (4,376) (24,361)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 204 42 2,178
Purchases of property, plant and equipment (21,745) (12,555) (37.930)
Net cash used in investing activities (21,500) (15,593) (61,203)
Cash flows from (used in) financing activities:
Bank overdrafts 7,296 - (13,504)
Proceeds from common stock sales 19,981 - 79,384
Proceeds from sale of warrants - 560 -
Proceeds from employee stock sales 366 1,100 5,686
Payments on loans to shareholders 284 399 1,464
Proceeds from government grants - 300 550
Proceeds from sale and leaseback - 7,476 911
Principal payments on borrowings (62,150) (54,274) (60,072)
Proceeds from borrowings 54,787 35,592 54,156
Debt placement costs (1,681) (1,099) (1,411)
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 18,883 (9,946) 67,164
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash 386 _ (493 (53)
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents (22,970) 21,279 5,601
Cash and cash equivalents:
Beginning of year ‘ 32,762 11483 5,882
End of year $ 9,792 $ 32,762 $ 11483

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PEMSTAR Inc,
(In thousands, except per share data)

Note 1. Nature of Business and Significant Accounting Policies

Business — PEMSTAR Inc. (the “Company”) is a leading provider of electronics manufacturing services to original
equipment manufacturers in the communications, computing and data storage, industrial and medical equipment sectors.
The Company provides its services to customers on a global basis through manufacturing facilities located in North
America, Asia, Europe and South America.

Principles of consolidation — The accompanying financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly-
owned subsidiaries. All material intercompany accounts and transactions are eliminated in the consolidated financial
statements.

Revenue recognition — Revenue from the sale of products is recognized when the product is shipped to the customer. In
limited circumstances, although the physical product remains on the Company’s premises at the request of the customer,
when title and risks and rewards of ownership have contractually passed to the customer, revenue is recognized in
accordance with the guidance of Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 101. Revenue from sale of products includes sales of
excess inventories to customers under contract provisions of $8,426, $23,774, and $25,402 for its years ended March 31,
2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. Revenue from design, development and engineering services is recognized when the
services are performed and collectibility is reasonably certain. Such services provided under fixed price contracts are
accounted for using the percentage of completion method as outlined in SOP 81-1, “Accounting for Performance of
Contract-Type and Certain Production-Type Contracts” using hours of services for measurement of the extent of progress
towards completion. Revenue recognized in excess of billed amounts under fixed price contracts or unbilled engineering
services is classified as unbilled services in the balance sheet.

Cash and cash equivalents — The Company considers all highly liquid debt securities purchased with a maturity of three
months or less to be cash equivalents. Cash equivalents are recorded at cost, which approximates market value.

Inventories — Inventories are stated at the lower of cost (first-in, first-out method) or market and include freight-in,
materials, labor and manufacturing overhead costs.

Property, plant and equipment — Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost. Depreciation is computed using the
straight-line method over the following estimated useful lives:

Number of
Years
Buildings and improvements 4t0 40
Machinery and equipment 4t07
Furniture and fixtures 2to 10
Computer hardware and software 4

Amortization of assets acquired under capital leases is included with depreciation expense.

Goodwill — Effective April 1, 2002, the Company adopted SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.” Under
this standard, goodwill and intangibles with indefinite useful lives are no longer amortized. This standard also requires, at
a minimum, an annual assessment of the carrying value of goodwill and other intangibles with indefinite useful lives. If
the carrying value of goodwill or an intangible asset exceeds its fair value, an impairment loss shall be recognized.
Intangible assets with finite lives are amortized over their estimated useful lives. Prior to 2003, goodwill and indefinite-
lived intangible assets were amortized over periods not exceeding 40 years. Goodwill at March 31, 2004 and 2003 of
$33,878 and $33,771, respectively, is net of accumulated amortization of $854 and $852, respectively.

SFAS No. 142 required the Company to complete an impairment review of its goodwill assets. As a result of the
Company’s completion of its transitional impairment test using a discounted cash flow model as required by SFAS No.
142, it determined that goodwill pertaining to one of its acquisitions was impaired. As such, the Company recorded as a
cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle a write-off of goodwill in fiscal 2003 in the amount of $5,346 on
which the Company recognized no tax benefit.
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During 2002, the Company evaluated its goodwill under SFAS No. 121, “Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived
Assets and for Long-Lived Assets to Be Disposed of.” As a result of this evaluation, the Company recorded a goodwill
impairment charge of $24,228.

As reconciliation of reported net loss adjusted to reflect the adoption of SFAS No. 142 as if it had been effective April 1,
2001 is provided below:

Year Ended March 31,
- 2004 2003 2002

Reported Net 10SS......ccvviriiirrerierieereseeeisieeseeseee s $(19,800) $(38,764) $(54,017)
Add: Adjustment for accounting change ............o.ooo.... - 5,346 -

Amortization, net Of taX.....coocevvivvevivinerereeernnnionns - - 2,152
Adjusted Net 10SS . ..coivieeriieieneic e $(19.800) $(33418) $(51.865)
Reported basic loss per common share ........coocecvvceeerne $(47) $ (1.04) $ (1.56)
Add: Adjustment for accounting change ...........c..c..c... - .14 -

Amortization, net of taX.......c.cceeveiennieininenee. - - 07
Adjusted basic net loss per common share ................... $ (47) $ (90) $(1.49)
Reported diluted loss per common share ..., $(47) $(1.04) $(1.56)
Add: Adjustment for accounting change.............e.c..... - 14 -

Amortization, net of taX......cccoovvevreirenenvrecncnnne - - .07
Adjusted diluted net loss per common share................. $ 47y $_(90) $ (1.49)

Long-lived assets — The Company follows SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived
Assets.” SFAS No. 144 requires that long-lived assets, including goodwill, be reviewed for impairment whenever events
or circumstances indicate the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. The Company evaluates potential
impairment by comparing the carrying amount of the assets with the estimated undiscounted cash flows associated with
them. If impairment exists, the Company records an impairment charge equal to the excess amount of the carrying value
over the fair value.

Estimated warranty claim — The Company sells its products with a warranty that provides for repairs or replacements of

~any defective workmanship for a-one-year period-afier the-sale. -Based upon historical experience, the accrual for warranty

claims is not material at March 31, 2004 and 2003.

Foreign currency ~ For subsidiaries where the U.S. dollar is the functional currency, all foreign currency asset and liability
amounts are remeasured into U.S. dollars at end-of-period exchange rates, except for inventories, prepaid expenses,
property, plant and equipment, and intangible assets, which are remeasured at historical rates. Foreign currency income
and expenses are remeasured at average exchange rates in effect during the year, except for expenses related to balance
sheet amounts remeasured at historical exchange rates. Exchange gains and losses arising from remeasurement of foreign
currency-denominated monetary assets and liabilities are included in income in the period in 'which they occur.

For subsidiaries where the local currency is the functional currency, assets and liabilities denominated in local currencies
are translated into U.S. dollars at end of period exchange rates, and the resultant translation adjustments are reported, net of
their related tax effects, as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) in stockholders’ equity. Assets
and liabilities denominated in other than the local currency are remeasured into the local currency prior to translation into
U.S. dollars, and the resultant exchange gains or losses are included in income in the period in which they occur. Income
and expenses are translated into U.S. dollars at average exchange rates in effect during the period.

Comprehensive income (loss) reflects the change in equity of a business during a period from transactions and other events
and circumstances from non-owner sources. For the Company, comprehensive income (loss) represents net income (loss)
adjustéd for foreign currency translation adjustments.

Shipping and handling fees — The Company classifies costs associated with shipping and handling fees as a component of
cost of goods sold. Customer billings related to shipping and handling fees are reported as net sales.

Income taxes — The Company accounts for income taxes following the provisions of SFAS No. 109, “Accounting for

Income Taxes.” SFAS No. 109 requires that deferred income taxes be recognized for the tax consequences in future years
of differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their financial reporting amounts at each year end, based
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on enacted tax laws and statutory tax rates applicable to the periods in which the differences are expected to affect taxable
earnings. Valuation allowances are established when necessary to reduce deferred tax assets to the amount more likely
than not to be realized. The effect of changes in tax rates is recognized in the period in which the rate change occurs.

Research and development — Research and development costs are expensed when incurred and totaled $529, $1,011 and
$1,015 for the years ended March 31, 2004, 2003, and 2002, respectively.

Use of estimates — The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements and
accompanying notes. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Given the volatility of the markets in which the Company operates, the Company makes adjustments to its value of
inventories based on estimates of potentially excess and obsolete inventory after considering customer forecasted demand
and forecasted average selling price. However, forecasts are subject to revisions, cancellations, and rescheduling. Actual
demand will inevitably differ from such anticipated demand, and such differences may have a material effect on the
Company’s financial position and results of operations.

The Company has a diverse customer base. The creditworthiness of customers is evaluated before sales are approved. The
Company records an allowance for doubtful accounts based on past history, current economic conditions and the
composition of its accounts receivable aging, and in some instances, makes allowances for specific customers based on
several factors, such as the creditworthiness of those customers and payment history. Actual write-offs may differ from the
allowances for doubtful accounts, and this difference may have a material effect on the Company’s financial position and
results of operations.

Stock-based compensation — The Company has adopted the pro-forma disclosure only requirements of SFAS No. 123,
“Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation”, and accordingly, accounts for stock options issued to employees using the
intrinsic value method of Accounting Principles Board Opinion (“APB”) No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to
Employees.” Compensation expense is recorded on the date stock options are granted only if the current fair market value
of the underlying stock exceeds the exercise price of the option. Accordingly, no compensation cost has been recognized
for grants under these stock option plans since the exercise price equaled the fair market value of the stock on the date of
grant. Had compensation cost for stock option grants been based on the grant date fair values of awards (the method
described in SFAS No. 123), reported net (loss) income would have been changed to the pro forma amounts reported
below.

Year Ended March 31,
2004 2003 2002

Net loss:

AS TEPOTLEd...evevriverierereee e $(19,800) $(38,764) $(54,017)

Additional compensation expense, net of tax........ 2117 (2.625) (2.819)

Pro forma ...t $(21917) $(41,389)  $(56,836)
Basic and diluted loss per share:

ASTEPOTtEd ..ot $ (47 $ (1.04) $(1.56)

Pro forma ......ccc.coociiiiis s (52) (1.11) (1.64)

The fair value of each option grant has been estimated at the grant date using a Black-Scholes option pricing model with
the following weighted average assumptions: dividend rate of 0% for all years; risk-free interest rates of 3.86%, 3.83%
and 5.42% for 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively, volatility factor of expected market price of our common stock of 0.7,
1.5 and 0.8 for 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively, and expected lives of ten years.

Net (loss) income per common share — The Company follows the provisions of SFAS No. 128, “Earnings per Share.”
Basic net (loss) income per share is computed based upon the weighted average number of common shares issued and
outstanding during each year. Diluted net (loss) income per share amounts assume conversion, exercise or issuance of all
potential common stock instruments (stock options as discussed in Note 13).

Common stock equivalents and their impact on net loss have been excluded from the diluted per share calculation for all
years presented, since the Company incurred net losses and the inclusion of common stock equivalents would have had an
anti-dilutive impact. Potentially dilutive securities, which have been excluded, consist of i) unexercised stock options and
warrants to purchase 5,977 and 5,978 shares of the Company’s common stock as of March 31, 2004 and 2003,
respectively, and ii) 2,193 shares of the Company’s common stock issuable upon conversion of convertible debt as of
March 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

32




Reclassification — Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform with the current year presentation. These
reclassifications had no impact on previously reported net (loss) income or shareholders’ equity.

Note 2. Acquisitions

In August 2000, the Company acquired Turtle Mountain Corporation, an electronics manufacturing service provider for
commercial and military customers. In September 2001, in connection with the terms of the purchase agreement, the
Company was required to pay additional contingent consideration, which had the effect of increasing the purchase price
and goodwill by $750.

- InMay 2001, the Company acquired certain assets and assumed certain liabilities of U.S. Assemblies New England, Inc.,
which operates through an 85,000 square foot facility located in Taunton, Massachusetts. The purchase price of $14,522,
including $1,646 of assumed indebtedness was funded under the Company’s operating line of credit. The transaction was
accounted for as a purchase. Accordingly, the nef assets and operating results have been included in the Company
financial statements from the date of acquisition. The excess of the purchase price over the estimated fair value of the net
assets acquired of $11,913 was recorded as goodwill prior to the remaining unamortized balance of $11,367 being written
off in March 2002 as a result of the Company’s analysis of impairment.

In September 2001, the Company purchased the membership interests and business of Pacific Consultants LLC (a provider
of electromechanical design and test consulting services). The initial purchase price was approximately $20,642, including
common stock valued at $10,000, cash and costs of $6,792, and cash or common stock of $3,850 payable up to two years
from the date of the acquisition. The purchase agreement provided for additional adjustment of the purchase price, payable
in cash or common stock, up to an additional $40,000, if earnings targets are met for the acquired business in the two years
following the close. The transaction was accounted for as a purchase. Accordingly, the net assets and operating results
have been included in the Company’s financial statements from the date of acquisition. The excess of the purchase price
over the estimated fair value of net assets acquired was recorded as goodwill and has not been amortized in accordance
with SFAS No. 142. Goodwill of $17,356 was recorded at March 31, 2002 and increased by $253 and $4,376 in the years
ended March 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively, for payments made in connection with purchase agreement adjustment of
purchase price contract provisions.

In November 2001, the Company purchased certain assets from MTS Systems Corporation including equipment located in
Chaska, Minnesota. The purchase price of $3,647 was funded under the Company’s operating line of credit. The
transaction was recorded as a purchase. Accordingly, the net assets and operating results have been included in the
Company’s financial statements from the date of acquisition. The excess of purchase price over the fair value of net assets
acquired of $1,257 was recorded as goodwill and has not been amortized in accordance with SFAS No. 142,

The following table summarizes the estimated fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the date of acquisition
for acquisitions since adoption of SFAS No. 141, which includes the Pacific Consultants LLP and MTS Systems
Corporation transactions.

CUTTEIE BSSEES.eerrrrieererenerereserrrerssteresesisreessssreeessessaesssos $ 6,585
Property, plant and equipment...........c.cccovvninniennne 1,178
Intangible assets not subject to amortization............... 100
GOOAWILL...ooviiiiire e 18,613
Current Habilities .....cveverveeeiereiieeniec e ceeenieronnenenes (2,235)
Noncurrent liabilities .......oocoieriiiiniincniicee, (494)
Net assets aCqUITEd .......cccvvniivermncenniniennr e $23,747
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The following unaudited pro forma combined summary statement of operations for the year ended March 31, 2002 was
prepared in accordance with APB No. 16 and assumes the acquisition had occurred at the beginning of the year. The
following pro forma data reflect adjustments for interest expense, amortization of goodwill, where applicable, and
depreciation of fixed assets. The unaudited pro forma financial information is provided for informational purposes only
and does not purport to be indicative of the future results of the Company.

Unaudited Pro Forma Consolidated Statements of Operations

Year ended
March 31, 2002

INEE SALES .vvvvietiee et ettt et se e e e et sseerre e s staeaeeernreeesenaines $ 674,016

IN B 1088 cuuuieiiiieiereiie et et e e ettt e e e ereee e e e e s e natreseevsee e e s sttaeesastbeaeennnees (53,767)

Net loss per common share — basic and diluted.............ccoenennee $ (1.55)
Note 3. Accounts Receivable
Accounts receivable consists of the following:

March 31,
2004 2003
ACCOUNLS TECEIVADIL ...evivee et oot ee ettt e eree e eees s seeeeaaee e $ 130,761 $ 115,799
Less allowance for doubtful accounts ........ccooovvveeeeieviiiicecnenee, (3,178) (3.483)

$ 127,583 $ 112316

Note 4. Inventories

Inventories consist of the following:

March 31,
2004 2003
RAW MUAETIALS .. oovoee oottt ettt et ree s esee e eessene s $ 74,797 % 57971
WOTK 111 PIOCESS ...eveeveriii ettt ettt 12,562 10,078
Finished go0dSs.. ...t 16,529 6,611
Less allowance for inventory obsolescence.........ocovevcnninncinenee (3.406) (5,381)

3 94482 $ 69279

Note 5. Property, Plant and Equipment, Net

Property, plant and equipment consists of the following:

March 31,

2004 2003
I Ve SO OO OO USSP SRRSO UURP $ 2,683 $ 2,587
Buildings and improvements...........coeeevereriereniseice s erenieennns 30,568 27,134
Machinery and eqUIPMENLt .........coovicriiiiicaiii s 83,639 80,243
Computer hardware and SOftWare.............covvevveeiiecieiiiic e 35,809 27,341
CONSIIUCHION Q11 PIOZIESS <vvevvreseeeneerreensieerenrrnireseseseesraessesssesmseasseonee 14,626 11,354

167,325 148,659
Less accumulated depreciation ... s (74.204) (55,459

93.121 93,200
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Note 6. Financing Arrangements

Long-term debt consists of the following:
March 31,
2004 2003

Domestic revolving credit facilities, interest at prime plus a margin

ranging up to 350 basis points or LIBOR plus a margin ranging

from 175 to 350 basis points (4.9% at March 31, 2004 and 7.37% at

March 31, 2003) ..cvoriirieniei ettt e $ 36,872 $ 45,851
Foreign revolving credit facilities, interest rates ranging from 2.0% to

5.0% or SIBOR plus a margin of 175 basis points (2.9% at March

31,2004 and 5.85% at March 31, 2003) ..c.ccovvrurrrnenmnrernnernrennes 29,802 12,019
Convertible senior subordinated notes bearing interest at 6.5%, due May
L 2007 it et e e 4,638 4,541

Notes payable bearing interest ranging from 7.1% to 7.4%, due in

monthly payments of principal and interest of $297 through April

2004 for domestic notes. The notes are secured by equipment ......... 295 5,308
Foreign notes payable, interest 5.0% through June 2004 and prime less

100 basis points thereafter to June 2007, due in monthly payments

of $127 through June 2007. The notes are secured by buildings ...... 4,968 5951
Bonds payable to the City of RoChester ......coovovvveveiivcnicevenniencinn - 3,870
OBNET ..ttt nb bbb st e n ek s b e et 899 1.033

77,474 78,573
Less current Maturities .....eiueiviiieiiiiiiiiciiiniiiaie s en e e aenes (68.618) _{68.297)

N . $ 8856 $ 10276
In April 2003, the Company entered into new revolving credit facilities with Congress Financial Corporation and Fleet
Capital Corporation, which, as amended to include US Bank, provide up to $90,000 of revolving credit loans and letters of
credit and expire in April 2006. The facilities, which are limited to the lesser of the facilities amount or the available
borrowing base, calculated as a percentage of eligible accounts receivable and inventory balances, bear interest at prime or
Eurodollar rate plus a margin from 75 to 150 basis points, and 275 to 350 basis points, respectively, depending on excess
available borrowing capacity within the facilities. The Company is obligated to pay a monthly fee of 2 % on the unused
portion of the facilities. The revolving credit facilities are collateralized by substantially all domestic assets and by
investments in foreign subsidiaries. Due to the characteristics of the domestic revolving credit facilities, in accordance
with current accounting pronouncements, the Company has classified the amount outstanding as a current liability. Despite
the balance sheet classification, the Company intends to manage the domestic revolving credit facilities as long-term debt
with a final maturity in April 2006.

The Company has letters of credit totaling $2,900 outstanding as of March 31, 2004 under these facilities. Restricted cash
balances of $3,943 relate to certain letters of credit outstanding at March 31, 2003.

The Company also has separate available lines of credit in certain foreign locations totaling $29,802, due at various dates
through September 2004, renewable at the discretion of the lenders. Certain of these lines have been renewed subsequent
to year end, consistent with past experience with these lenders. Advances under these lines of credit bear interest at fixed
and variable rates ranging from 2.0% to 5.0% at March 31, 2004. The lines of credit are unsecured, but have historically

been both unsecured and secured by certain foreign inventories, receivables and fixed assets.

In May 2002, pursuant to a securities purchase agreement, the Company sold to two investors $5,000 face value of 6 V2 %
convertible senior subordinated notes with a conversion price of $2.28 per share together with a seven year warrant which
provided for the purchase of 788 shares of the Company’s common stock at an exercise price of $2.28 per share. The
initial carrying value of the notes was reduced by $532 for the fair value of the common stock warrant issued to the two
investors. The discount to the note is being amortized over the seven-year life of the note.

As consideration for entering into the transaction, in lieu of cash, the Company issued additional warrants to the two
investors to purchase 1,000 shares of the Company’s common stock at an exercise price of $2.00 per share. The fair value
of the warrants of $898 was capitalized as financing fees and is being amortized over the seven year life of the notes.

In July 2002, the Company entered into an amendment and termination agreement eliminating the remaining obligation to

sell notes and related warrants pursuant to the securities purchase agreement. The Company issued additional warrants in
consideration for the amendment and termination agreement providing for the purchase of 250 shares of the Company’s
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common stock. The fair value of the warrants of $188 was charged to interest expense as a cost of termination of the
agreement.

Payment of the bonds was secured by irrevocable letters of credit in favor of the trustee in the amount of $3,943 which
expired in August 2003. The Company was required to maintain letters of credit sufficient to pay all outstanding principal
and interest under the bonds. Restricted cash at March 31, 2003 includes $3,943 of cash pledged to back these irrevocable
letters of credit, replacing the previous mortgage on the Rochester headquarters and manufacturing facilities. Interest on
the bonds was variable and was payable monthly until, at the option of the Company with the consent of US Bank, the rate
was fixed (conversion date). Bond sinking funds and proceeds from the bonds, to the extent unused, are shown as $325 in
restricted cash at March 31, 2003. In April 2003, notice of redemption was made with redemption occurring in May 2003.
All related restricted cash amounts and debt have been classified as current assets and liabilities.

Aggregate maturities of long-term debt are as follows for the years ending March 31:

2005 $ 68,618
2006 1,640
2007 1,840
2008 5,132
2009 61
Thereafter 183

$77.474

Note 7. Restructuring and Impairment Charges

A rollforward of restructuring provisions is as follows:

Employee
Termination
Asset and Future
Write- Severance Lease
Downs Costs Costs Total
Fiscal 2003:
Fiscal 2003 restructuring charges .........ccccorverrerirrreennnnnn. $ 7713 $ 2439 $ 1,037 $ 4,249
Cash PaymMents ...c.ccooove e - (2,209) (500) (2,709)
Non-cash charges.....c.ccvceveivereeeniiieresec e (773) - - (773)
Foreign currency translation adjustment..............cccoceevvenen, - 112 - 112
Reserve balance at March 31,2003 ... - 342 537 879
Fiscal 2004:
Fiscal 2004 restructuring charges ...........coeecrerervenininneenns, 1,224 1,066 4,608 6,898
Additions to fiscal 2003 restructuring charges ................... - - 1,063 1,063
Cash PayMENtS ..o..eceieriiini e - (1,318) (2,274) (3,592)
Non-cash Charges.......cccccvveiorinvrnceninneeceece et (1,224) - - (1,224)
Foreign currency translation adjustment.........c..c..coconeninin, - 33 - 33
Reserve balances at March 31, 2004........ccccccovvvvvvereennnn, $ - $ 143 $ 3934 $ 4,077

During fiscal 2004, the Company recorded charges of $7,961 for restructuring related costs as a result of a Company
initiative based upon a strategic review of the Company’s primary products and business aimed at optimizing and aligning
its manufacturing capacity with customer demand, while positioning the Company for stronger operating results. The
charges consisted of asset write-downs of $1,224 for machinery and equipment; $1,066 for employee termination and
severance costs related to approximately 100 salaried and hourly employees located primarily at three domestic operating
sites; and $5,671 for adjustment of expected future lease costs, associated with the closing of one California facility in
fiscal 2003 and one additional California facility in fiscal 2004. The fiscal 2004 restructuring actions taken pertain to
operations for those businesses and locations experiencing negligible or negative growth due to continued market declines
in the Communications and Optical business sectors. Certain machinery and equipment were written down to their
estimated fair values as a direct result of the continued decline in the optical business sector, which has resulted in excess
capacity and under-utilized machinery and equipment.

During fiscal 2003, the Company incurred restructuring costs of $4,249. Of this, $1,810, related to the decision to
consolidate separate manufacturing facilities in San Jose, California, into a single facility, consisting of lease continuation
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costs of $1,037 and accelerated amortization of leasehold improvements of $773. Additionally, $2,439 of severance costs
were incurred, primarily in The Netherlands and in the United States’ locations, responding to reductions in local business
requirements.

As of March 31, 2004, approximately $4,135 and $2,166 of cash payments had been made against the accrual associated
with the fiscal 2003 and 2004 charges, respectively.

Note 8. Other Income (Expense) — Net

The other income (expense) - net consists of the following:

Year Ended March 31,
2004 2003 2002
FOTreign CUITENCY GAIMS cervrvevrreererietreeesetatsintrescseeeseesseseneesnsesesenesenesesessenns $ 631 $ 387 $ 691
Other INCOME (EXPENSE)NEL ...cvvriivuiiierenieerieriin e 162 171 138

$793  $558  $.829

Note 9. Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrying values of cash and cash equivalents, and accounts receivable and payable approximate fair value due to the
short-term maturity of these instruments. The carrying amount of the Company’s revolving line of credit and long-term
notes approximate fair value because the majority of the amounts outstanding accrue interest at variable rates.

Note 10. Commitments and Contingencies

The Company has various capital and operating leases, which expire on various dates through 2023. Future minimum
payments under both capital leases and operating leases are as follows:

Capital Operating
Year Ending March 31, Leases Leases
2005 1t $ 3,157 $ 9,504
2006 ...t s 1,565 8,344
2007 ot 1,361 6,949
2008 ...t b 1,389 6,006
2009 it et s 7,343 5,824
Thereafter. ..ot 17.058 7132
Total minimum 18ase PaymMents .........ccccovvvveriniiniiininncie e 31,813 $43.759
Less amount representing interest......oovceevinniciinciencnnnnnnene, (18.177)
Present value of minimum lease payment........ccocecveeecrnininnnnes 13,636
Less CUTTENE POTHOM ..cccoviie ettt (1,769
$11.867
Property, plant and equipment includes the following amounts for capitalized leases:
March 31,
2004 2003
Buildings and improvements ..........ccvevieiin i $ 12,000 $ 11,691
Machinery and equipment ..........ccoocceciivmeciiinnniii e ' 808 4,655
Computer hardware and sOftware .........coovvenereerciiveecesvesennennes 8,390 8.634
21,198 24,980
Less accumulated depreciation.........ccvcvviiininnnniinis (3,512) (6,256)

$ 17,686 $ 18724

Total rent expense recognized under operating leases for the years ended March 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 totaled $12,305,
$13,329 and $10,039, respectively.

In March 2003, the Company sold land and buildings housing its Rochester, Minnesota, location in a transaction valued at
$12,000, which is treated as a financing transaction, because of the continuing use of the property. Proceeds totaled
$5,775, after deducting $309 of transaction costs, $1,917 of security deposits and $3,943 of restricted cash placed with US
Bank to replace collateral for letters of credit backing the related City of Rochester Bonds outstanding (see Note 6).
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Leaseback rental payments total $1,303, $1,330, $1,356, $1,383, $1,411 and $22,990 for years ended March 31, 2005,
2006, 2007, 2008, 2009 and thereafter, respectively. Other manufacturing equipment, which had been recently purchased,
totaling $1,701 was financed in sale-leaseback transactions during the year ended March 31, 2003.

We are currently a defendant, along with several current and former officers and directors, in a consolidated
putative class action captioned in re PEMSTAR Securities Litigation, alleging violations of Section 10(b) and Section 20(a)
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and Sections 11 and 12 of the Securities Act of 1933. The lawsuit is a consolidation
of several lawsuits, the first of which was commenced in United States District Court for the District of Minnesota on July
24,2002. The plaintiffs, several individual shareholders, allege, in essence, that the defendants defrauded our shareholders
by making optimistic statements during a time when they should have known that business prospects were less promising
and allege that the registration statement filed by us in connection with a secondary offering contained false, material
misrepresentations. An Amended Consolidated Complaint was filed January 9, 2003. The securities class action is
pending and discovery is ongoing. On August 23, 2002 and October 2, 2002 two different individual shareholders also
commenced virtually identical shareholder derivative actions against us as nominal defendant and our Board. Those actions
have been consolidated and are currently pending in United States District Court for the District of Minnesota, Third
Judicial District, County of Olmsted. The allegations in the consolidated derivative action are based on many of the same
facts that gave rise to the securities action. The derivative action alleges that our Board breached its fiduciary duties by
allegedly allowing the violations of the securities to occur.

It is too early to predict the likelihood of prevailing on the various lawsuits described above. We believe the
securities action is wholly without merit and we have moved to dismiss the derivative action based on the plaintiffs’ failure
to make a demand that the Board consider the merits of the claims in that action. We are vigorously defending against both
of these claims.

Note 11. Income Taxes

(Loss) income before income taxes consisted of the following:

Year ended March 31,
2004 2003 2002
DOMESHIC. ...oviviiiiiiiciie e $(25,944)  $(43,342)  $(57,885)
FOreign. ..o 6,647 10,677 1,942

$(19.297)  $(32.,665) $(55.943)

The provision for income tax expense (benefit) consisted of the following:

Year ended March 31,
2004 2003 2002
Current:
DOMESHIC.....cvieeiriiee ittt et ettt et sete e $ 24 $ 76 $ (5,638)
FOTRIZN. it 1,027 1,261 2,653
1,003 1,337 (2,985)
Deferred:
DOMESEIC .. cuviieeiiit e et e e rer e s e e e stee e seaieeeas - - 2,418
| 0] 4= 13 OO SOSSUUSOTTUS PR (500) (584) (1,359
(500) (584 1,059

$ 503 § 753 $(1.906)

A reconciliation of the provision for income taxes at the statutory rates to the reported income tax provision is as follows:

Year ended March 31,
2004 2003 2002

Computed “expected” taX rate........occvriviieinrreeiriinree e $ (6,561) $(11,106)  $(19,021)
Increase (decrease) in income taxes resulting from:

State taxes, net of credits and federal income tax benefit..... (1,069) (2,224) (1,608)

Benefit of foreign sales/extraterritorial income exclusion..., (155) (263) (291)

FOT@IZN tAXES «.veuvveiveieere ittt (1,669) 5,409 (7,896)

Valuation alloWanCe .......c.voviiiiiiiiie ettt veeerrine s 10,228 8,554 26,962

(03513 OO PO SO TR (271) 383 (72)

$ 503 § 753 $ (1.926)
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A summary of deferred tax assets and liabilities is as follows:

March 31,
2004 2003
Deferred tax assets:
Allowance for doubtful accounts.......cccccveervvveeeeiieeeerineenn, $ 948 $ 1,280
Allowance for inventory obsolescence ........oceovvvienrenrvenennne. 876 1,685
Reserve for goodwill impairment .........cccoevverreimsrerenrircrninns 7,800 8,846
Deferred revenue ......oveeveevevevceeenrreccin e eee s s 629 697
Domestic net operating loSses ..o, 32,893 22,521
SHAte taX CTEAILS....coviirieriiii ittt eeessisbrrere e e s s e enenns 1,097 1,254
Foreign expenses accelerated for book purposes................ 2,560 5,011
Foreign net operating 10S8€5 ....c.cocvvveiininininicnecee e, 6,049 4,545
107341 SO U PO TSR 2.850 1,569
Total deferred tax @SSEts ....cccveveiivieirireiiieee e 55,702 47,408
Deferred tax liabilities:
Accelerated depreciation ..........cevevieeniiiiininrennnieieees (1,796) (2,244)
Foreign expenses accelerated for tax purposes................... (5,636) (7,648)
OHNET ettt sra e et er e e (286) (260)
Total deferred tax lHabilities.....ooceviviiivcieneien e, (7,718) (10,152)
47,984 37,256
Valuation allowance:
DOMESTIC ...ttt teieereiteerneeeer e eeereettessrbe s eesebe e e e et nsaesene s (45,012) (35,348)
FOTEIMN . vvivveeiiii ettt sttt {732 (168)
Total valuation alloOWAanCe...........cccceeeiiivieinniiee e, (45.744) (35,516)
Net deferred tax assets $ 2240 $ 1740

No provision has been made for U.S. income taxes related to undistributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries. The Company
has approximately $93,900 of domestic net operating loss carryforwards, which will expire from 2022 to 2023. Of this
$93,900 carryforward total, $8,700 will result in tax benefits that will not reduce tax expense on current earnings, but rather
will increase additional paid-in capital. The Company has approximately $10,600 of foreign net operating loss
carryforwards that have an unlimited carryforward period, and foreign net operating loss carryforwards of approximately
$7,100 that will expire from 2011 to 2013, The state tax credit carryforwards of $1,662 expire at varying dates through
2017.

The foreign tax expense in China was decreased $139 ($0.00 per share on a basic and diluted basis) in fiscal 2004, by $725
($0.02 per share on a basic and diluted basis) in fiscal 2003 and, by $323 ($0.01 per share on a basic and diluted basis) in
fiscal 2002 as a result of the benefit of a tax holiday. This holiday ran at 50% relief of the normal 15% income tax rate, or
7.5%, through December 31, 2003. Beginning on January 1, 2004, China began a new tax holiday and will use a 10% tax
rate through December 31, 2006. The foreign tax expense in Singapore was decreased by $1,040 ($0.05 per share on a
basic and diluted basis) in fiscal 2004, by $1,082 ($0.03 per share on a basic and diluted basis) and $774 ($0.02 and $0.02
per share on a basic and diluted basis, respectively) in fiscal 2002, as the result of the benefit of a tax holiday. This holiday’
from the normal 24.5% income tax rate ended March 31, 2004. During fiscal 2004 and 2003, current tax expense in
Mexico reflects minimum taxes payable.

Note 12. Geographic and Concentration of Credit Risk Information

The Company derives its revenue from one reportable segment, electronic manufacturing services. The Company
classifies sales geographically based upon country from which the final product is delivered. The following is a summary
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of net sales and long-lived assets by geographic location:

Year Ended March 31,
2004 2003 2002
Net sales: :
United StAES ...ovveeeriietieeee s isree e csee e $ 443,495 $ 427,628 $ 436,300
Americas, Other ....cocvvvvviiiec e 4,734 48,097 42,665
ChRINA v 87,133 66,835 61,897
ASIA, OthET oo et 72,772 57,810 66,705
BUrope oo 61,312 67.805 49.926

$ 669446 3 668.175 $ 657.493

Long-lived assets:

UnNIEd SEALES «ovvveeeeeeeieee ettt e san e $ 83,829 $ 92,003 §$ 89,969
Americas, Other ........ccccvveiiiiieiiie e 4,444 4,454 4,621
ChiNa .covvieccceee et e 32,243 21,562 19,990
ASIA, OtNET oo ettt ee e ee e 12,929 13,738 20,767
BUIOPE ...ooviiieri et 3,209 3.092 3,009

$ 135.654 $ 134849 $§ 138,356

As a result of changes to customer contractual relationships in the year ended March 31, 2004, net sales of $35,205 in 2004
shown as from the United States relate to production previously classified as Americas, other under the prior contractual
relationships.

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist principally of trade
receivables. Sales of the Company’s products are concentrated among specific customers in the same industry. The
Company generally does not require collateral. The Company considers concentrations of credit risk in establishing the
allowance for doubtful accounts and believes the recorded amount is adequate.

Customers that accounted for more that 10% of consolidated net sales are as follows:

Year Ended March 31,
2004 2003 2002
CUSIOMIET A oottt e s e s e 22.3% 23.4% 24.8%
CUStomEr B ....eveviiieeeee e - 10.8 14.0

As of March 31, 2004 and 2003, receivables from these customers represented 23% and 24% of total accounts receivable,
respectively.

Note 13. Shareholders’ Equity

The Company has authorized 5,000 shares of $0.01 par value preferred stock.

In June 2001, the Company sold 6,275 shares in a public offering from which the Company received net proceeds of
$79,384. In August and September 2003, the Company sold 7,475 shares in a follow on public offering from which the
Company received net proceeds of $19,981.

The Company has 1,234 shares of common stock available for grant or sale to board members and employees under

incentive stock option and purchase plans approved by shareholders. Options are generally granted at prices equal to the
fair market value on the dates of grant. All options are exercisable over a ten-year period.
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Following is a sumrﬁar)-/ of stock opﬁon activity for the fiscal years ended March31:

Year Ended March 31,
2004 2003 2002
Weighted Weighted Weighted
Average Average Average
Exercise Exercise Exercise
Shares Price Shares Price Shares Price
QOutstanding, beginning of year ....... 3,940 $ 5.67 3,465 $ 744 4419 $ 593
Granted.......coeevvivviieereeireie e 812 290 1,298 1.78 704 11.30
Exercised/forfeited ..........ccoeevernnnnn. (814) 5.63 (823) 6.98 (1,658) 5.05
QOutstanding, end of year ................ 3,938 5.11 3940 567 3465 7.44
Exercisable, end of year ................. 2,465 6.34 2,197 6.38 2,074 5.49
Weighted average fair value per
share of options granted during
the YEar .vovviiiier e $2.49 - §$176 - $938 -

At March 31, 2004, the options outstanding have average remaining contractual lives and exercise prices as follows:

Shares Average Contractual Life Exercise Price

1,919 8.27 years $ 0.00-4.99

1,160 5.59 years $ 500-999
811 6.70 years $10.00 - 14.99
48 7.04 years $15.00 -23.31

As of March 31, 2004 and 2003, the Company had loans outstanding to shareholders in connection with stock sales and the
exercise of stock options for the purchase of 45 shares and 136, respectively. Loans totaling $164 are due in March, 2005
and bear interest at 2.72%. The loans are secured by the shares of common stock purchased and full recourse against the
respective shareholder’s personal assets.

Note 14. Employee Benefit Plans
Retirement Plans

The Company sponsors various employee retirement savings plans that allow qualified employees to provide for their
retirement on a tax-deferred basis. In accordance with the terms of the retirement savings plans, the Company is required
to match certain of the participants’ contributions and, at its discretion, may provide employer contributions based on the
Company’s performance and other factors. Employer contributions for the years ended March 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002
totaled $1,262, $1,486 and $1,366, respectively.

The Company sponsors a defined benefit retirement plan program at its Netherlands facility. As of March 31, 2004, the
fair value of the plan assets and projected benefit obligations were $5,369 and $5,317, respectively. Expenses associated
with this plan totaled $165 and $201 for the years ended March 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

During 2001, the Company established an employee stock discount purchase plan that provides for the sale of up to 1,500
shares, as amended during 2002 and 2003, of the Company’s stock at discounted purchase prices, subject to certain
limitations. The cost per share under this plan is 85 percent of the market value of the Company’s common stock at the
date of purchase, as defined. During the years ended March 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, 98, 730 and 135 shares of common
stock were issued to employees pursuant to this plan, respectively. The weighted average fair value of shares sold in 2004,
2003 and 2002, was $2.50, $1.44 and $10.06, respectively.
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Note 15. Supplemental Cash Flow Information

Year Ended March 31,
2004 2003 2002
Supplemental disclosures for cash flow information:
Cash payments for:
IIIEETESE . eiveiet et cecere et ettt tete et et et seeereete st st s et eeneseeonsennereesaesaes $ 6,891 $ 7,283 $ 7.234
TNCOMIE LAXES «oooiiiiiiiiiieie ettt e e vt e e e ettt ababe e sesaaaasen 1,492 1,492 1,812
Supplemental schedule of non-cash investing and financing activities:
Property and equipment acquired through capital lease agreements.... 811 2,222 5,230
Common stock issued to acquire Pacific Consultants LLC.................. - - 10,000
Common stock warrants for financing fees..........cooccoecviiiiiiiniennne - 1,056 -
Restricted cash held from sale/leaseback proceeds to replace
mortgage as collateral on outstanding letters of credit
collateralizing bonds ......c.cvoiiiiiiniieiiiric e s - 3,943 -
- Lease deposits held from sale/leaseback proceeds.......cccccocvvvevirnnnnnnn - 1,917 -
Deferred financing costs held from sale/leaseback proceeds ............... - 309 -

Note 16. Cash Requirements

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared assuming the Company will continue as a going
concern, which contemplates the realization of assets and the satisfaction of liabilities in the normal course of business.
The Company incurred an operating loss of approximately $12,275 for the year ended March 31, 2004, which included
$7.,961 of restructuring costs. The Company continually evaluates its operations to determine the need for further
restructuring in response to market conditions. Although the operating loss for fiscal 2004 was not unexpected, given the
prior year losses and the residual effects of the downturn in the economy after September 11, 2001, and the resultant
impact on several large customers of the Company in certain industry sectors has been significant, the Company’s ability to
continue to fund its operations and to grow the business depends on its ability to generate additional cash from operations
or obtain additional sources of funds for working capital

The domestic revolving credit facilities were replaced during fiscal 2004 to provide expanded capacity for funding business
growth and to extend arrangements approaching the expiration of their term. In the event that the Company does not
maintain sufficient liquidity, measured by amounts available to borrow for the current collateral base less amounts actually
borrowed, these facilities require the maintenance of certain minimum cash flow levels. The Company’s operating plan
includes an expectation of maintaining this liquidity, as well as initiatives to reduce specific cash expenditures related to
general and administrative expenses.

Compliance by the Company with certain covenants in its new credit facility is dependent upon the Company achieving
certain revenue and expense targets in its fiscal 2005 operating plan. The Company expects to meet its financial
projections for the 2005 fiscal year. The Company also believes that, if necessary, it would be able to secure additional
financing from its lenders or sell additional Company equity securities; however, there can be no assurance that such
funding can be obtained or that future credit facility violations will be waived.

During fiscal 2004, the Company has obtained significant funding locally for its foreign operations and has obtained
commitments for further increases to suit business requirements. As such, it has become substantially less reliant on
domestic lines of credit for needs outside of domestic operations.

Management believes that, as a result of the restructuring actions it has taken to reduce cash expenditures, the efforts it
continues to make to increase revenues from continuing customers and to generate new customers in various industry
sectors and the new agreements it has reached to provide additional borrowing capacity, it will meet its fiscal 2005
financial plan. ‘
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"REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED-PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Shareholders
PEMSTAR Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of PEMSTAR Inc. as of March 31, 2004 and 2003, and the
related consolidated statements of operations, shareholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period
ended March 31, 2004. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting
the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used
and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We
believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial
position of PEMSTAR Inc. at March 31, 2004 and 2003 and the consolidated results of their operations and their cash
flows for each of the three years in the period ended March 31, 2004, in conformity with United States generally accepted
accounting principles.

As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting
Standard No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,” in 2003,

Srmet + MLLP

Minneapolis, Minnesota
May 7, 2004
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QUARTERLY RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (UNAUDITED)

PEMSTAR Inc.

The following table sets forth unaudited quarterly financial information of PEMSTAR for the quarterly periods in fiscal
2004 and 2003. Historically, we have experienced some seasonal variation in net sales, with net sales, excluding inventory
sales, typically being highest in the quarter ended December 31 and lowest in the quarter ended March 31. This seasonal

variation reflects the order patterns of our largest customers, who typically order a higher proportion of their annual

production in their final fiscal quarter. This seasonal variation has been offset recently by internal growth, acquisitions,
general economic conditions, end of life projects and customer disengagements. This information has been derived from
our monthly consolidated financial statements which are unaudited, but, in the opinion of management, fairly represent our
financial performance. This information should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and the
related notes contained elsewhere in this report. The operating results for any previous quarter are not necessarily
indicative of results for any future period.

Quarter Ended

(In thousands, except per share data)

Net sales
Cost of goods sold
Gross profit

Selling, general and
administrative expenses

Restructuring

Amortization

Operating income (loss)

Other income (expense) — net

Interest expense — net

(Loss) income before income
taxes and cumulative effect of
an accounting change

Income tax expense (benefit)
(Loss) income before cumulative
effect of accounting change
Cumulative effect of accounting

change'
Net (loss) income

Basic and diluted (loss) income
per common share:

(Loss) income before
cumulative effect of
accounting change

Net (loss) income

Mar. 31, Dec. 31, Sept. 30, June 30, Mar. 31, Dec. 31, Sept. 30, June 30,
2004 2003 2003 2003 2003 2002 2002 2002
$186,050 $187,346  $150,550  $145,500  $166,848  $171,841 $176,382  $153,104
170.442 173,605 138.665 138.918 156,944 159.199 168.495 152,436
15,608 13,741 11,885 6,582 9,904 12,642 7,887 668

15,128 12,630 12,012 12,253 11,097 11,819 13,790 14,370

295 (546) 4,757 3,455 (134) 503 924 2,956
27 26 27 27 27 27 27 48

158 1,631 (4,911) (9,153) (1,086) 293 (6,854) (16,706)
(C2Y)] 187 411 286 1,033 (288) (164) (23)
(1,893) a.772) 2.11H) (2.039) (1,733) (1,706) (2,596) (2.835)
(1,826) 46 (6,611) (10,906) (1,786) (1,701) 9,614) (19,564)
203 22 198 80 (112) 242 351 272
(2,029) 24 (6,809) (10,986) (1,674) (1,943) (9,965) (19,836)
- - - - - - - (5,346)
$2.029) § 24 § (6809 $(10986) § (1.674) $ (1943) § (9963 $(25,182)
$ (.04) $ .00 $ (17 $ (29 $ (04 $ (.05) $ (27 $ (54)
$ (04 $ .00 $ (17 $ (29 $ (04) $ (05 $ (27 $ (.68)

Note 1—Change represents an adjustment to previously reported quarterly results. See Note 1 to Consolidated Financial Statements herein.
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MARKET FOR PEMSTAR’S COMMON STOCK AND RELATED SHAREHOLDER MATTERS
PEMSTAR Inc.

Market Information
Our common stock has been quoted on the NASDAQ national market under the symbol “PMTR”. The following

table sets forth, for the periods indicated, the high and low sales prices per share of our common stock, as reported on the
NASDAQ national market.

High Low

Fiscal 2003:

First QUATLET ..ooovevverieereveereceeereeeees oot sees s eneanas $968 $ 1.13

Second QUATTET........evvevereereereiereeerrereressee s sieveenenns $18 $ .77

Third QUATTET «..ccovivveiitirrirrreree e csrenieens $247 $ .80

Fourth QUATEr....ccoociiiiieicrer e e $39 $ 205
Fiscal 2004:

FIrst QUATIET .oovviiviiieiciecereectee et vt eab e v $ 450 $ 2.06

Second QUATTET...c..ccevrereeerecticereerreree e b e $434 §$ 240

Third QUATTET .ooovviieerecie et cr e $ 421 $ 3.00

Fourth QUATLET...c..ccovvivieiriirecr e creeieenas $ 537 $ 325
Fiscal 2005:

First Quarter (through June 7, 2004).....c.ocvcevrvrnnenn. $ 400 $ 239

Holders

As of June 7, 2004, our common stock was held by approximately 1,335 shareholders of record and was quoted at
$2.48 per share.

Dividends
We have never declared or paid any dividends on our capital stock and do not anticipate paying any cash
dividends in the foreseeable future. We currently intend to retain future earnings to fund the development and growth of

our business. Our credit facility contains certain covenants, which prohibit us from paying any cash dividends without
prior consent of the lenders.

45




board of direcliors

Alllen ], Berning, Director since 1994
Chief Executive Officer, Chalrman of the
Board and Direcror, PEMSTAR, Inc.

Thomas A. Burten, Director since 1994
Independent Consultant

Kenneth

E. Inlc’fm@ﬂmd&r)m Director since 2002

:‘}Chazrman of thc Boar” l, XI Yee

C

dorporatzon‘

Wl Michel, Director sernce 2003

upﬂwep ndent

Bruce M. Jelffe, Direcvor since 2000

Vice President and Chief Financial Officer,

LogicVision, Inc.

Greg S. Lea, Director since 2001
Executive Vice President of Finance and Chief
Financial Officer, PEMSTAR, Inc.

= Michael J; ©drich, Direcror since 2062
" Managing Director of Lehman Brothers

Venture Capital Fund, Lehman Brothers

Steven &, Snydes, Director since 2004
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial
Officer, XIOtech Corporation

Sttt

~—

!

_executive officers.

Allen ]. Berning
Chief Executive Officer,
Chairman of the Board and Director

Fxecutive Vice President of
Finance and Chief Financial Officer

Roy A. Bauer
Executive Vice President

and Chief Operating Officer

Robert D. Ahmann

Executive Vice President—Industrial

Senior Vice President—Medical

Senior Vice President—-Communications

Larry R, Degen
Vice President and Principal Accounting Officer

William H. Rice
Vice President, General Counsel

and Corporate Secretary

corporate/shareholder information

corperal®
PEMSTAR Inc.

3535 Technology Drive NW
Rochester, MN 55901

(507) 288-6720 phone
(507) 280-0838 fax

Www.pemstar.com

- frading off COmmen ¢

“ The company'’s Common Stock is tra&cd on -

10K
A copy of the company’s Form 10-K, as filed

with the Securities and Exchange Commission,

is available at www.sec.gov/edgarhp htm oz
through a link to PEMSTAR’s SEC filings on
the Investor Relations section of PEMSTAR’s

Web site at www.pemstar.com, or upon request

by contacting:

independent auditers
Ernst & Young LLP

Minneapolis, MN

corperats counsel
Dorsey & Whitney LLP
Minneapolis, MN

Shayn Carlscm

the Nasdaq, Ngrmnal Marker System nnder thf: .

symbol “PMTR.”

annuel mesting

PEMSTAR’s annual meeting of shareholders will
be held at the company’s headquarters, 3535
Technology Drive NW, Rochester, Minnesota,
on Thursday, July 29, 2004, at 4:00 p.m.

o Fw-rnnvc Dlrectof -
- Planning & Investor Rclanons S

PEMSTAR Inc.
3535 Tectnology Drive NW
Rochester, MN 55901
(507) 535-4025 phone
(507) 535-4803 fax
IR@pemstar.com

... Minneapolis, MN

ranser agent and regisirar
Wells Fargo Bank Minnesota, N.A.
Shareowner Services

161 North Concord Exchange
South St. Paul, MN 55075

(800) 468-9716 phone




PEMSTAR n

PEMSTAR Inc. > 3535 Technology Drive NW > Rochester, MN 55901 > www.pemstar.com



